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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

To the Hon Liza Harvey MLA  
Minister for Police; Road Safety; Training and Workforce Development; Women’s Interests.

Dear Minister

In accordance with section 54 of the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996, and schedule 1 of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 (s61), we hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, 
the annual report of Polytechnic West for the year ending 31 December 2014. 

In the administration of Polytechnic West, we have complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management, the Western Australia Public Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct. 
We have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and conducted appropriate internal 
assessments to satisfy ourselves that this statement is correct. 

At the date of signing this document, we believe we have complied with all relevant written laws of the State 
of Western Australia that have bearing on the operations of Polytechnic West and have no knowledge or 
information of any circumstances that would render this statement misleading or inaccurate.

Keith Vuleta       Jill Jamieson
Chair of the Governing Council    Managing Director
Polytechnic West      Polytechnic West

20 February 2015

 

Further enquiries should be directed to:  

   Polytechnic West Marketing Department
   PO Box 1336 MIDLAND WA 6936

   Telephone  9267 7258
   Email  marketing@polytechnic.wa.edu.au
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It is with great pleasure we present the Polytechnic 
West 2014 Annual Report.  

Your future. Our business. is Polytechnic West’s 
strategic purpose and this report demonstrates our 
ongoing success in providing positive futures for 
individuals and employers. 

Our achievements included a range of prestigious 
student awards. A stellar performance by Polytechnic 
West students was evident in the final results of the 
2014 National WorldSkills competition, with eight 
medal winners and the overall Best in Nation winner. 
This result was followed by the Western Australian 
Training Awards Apprentice, Vocational Student and 
Trainee of the Year being awarded to Polytechnic 
West graduates.

We successfully completed our major Registered 
Training Provider re-registration quality audit. The 
audit highlighted many examples of good delivery and 
assessment practice as well as the professionalism 
and commitment of our staff. Our student satisfaction 
survey results, covering all facets of delivery, 
remained high, with over 90% of students satisfied 
with their Polytechnic West learning experience. 

Through commitment  to  continuous  improvement 
and improved monitoring of student progress, 
both student retention and completion rates have 
increased. In 2014 our qualification partnerships 
with local and inter-state universities were extended, 
providing our higher level VET and Associate Degree 
graduates with greater opportunities to progress on a 
degree pathway.

Building and maintaining productive industry 
relationships is a key strategic focus for Polytechnic 
West.  To sharpen our focus on the needs of our key 
industry sectors we completed a comprehensive 
review of our organisational structure during 2014. 
The new industry aligned training delivery structure 
has received positive feedback from our employer 
clients and provides a robust foundation to consolidate 
our service delivery and enhance the quality and 
responsiveness of our services.

Excellence and innovation are highly valued at 
Polytechnic West. In April, we launched our Capability 
Development Framework and Plan for 2014-2016, 
which outlined our approach to building a capable 
and future focused workforce. Through the Bright 
Ideas innovation project, staff researched, developed 
and shared new ways of working. 

Our global engagement expanded with international 
students from 68 countries choosing to study at 
Polytechnic West and an increasing number of 
students completing Australian qualifications through 
our offshore education partners. Opportunities to 
engage our domestic students in a global learning 
context continued to grow as a result of the signing 
of a benchmarking and mobility partnership with the 
Singapore Institute of Technical Education and we 
celebrated two Polytechnic West commercial cookery 
students finishing overall winners at the Global Chefs 
competition in Hong Kong. 

2014 presented significant changes to our environment, 
with student demand impacted by the introduction 
of Future Skills WA and structural changes in the 
Western Australian economy. Through focusing on 
the provision of responsive quality services, building 
stronger client relationships and continuing to review 
the efficiency of our operations, we have responded 
successfully to this new environment.

Finally, we would like to express our sincere gratitude 
to the members of the Governing Council for their 
contribution and guidance, the staff of Polytechnic 
West for their professionalism and passion, and 
our committed industry, education and community 
partners for their support. We are proud of our 2014 
achievements, and the ongoing contribution we make 
to the achievement of students’ career aspirations 
and the workforce development needs of employers.

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S AND 
CHAIR OF THE GOVERNING 
COUNCIL REPORT

Keith Vuleta 
Chair of the Polytechnic West 

Governing Council

Jill Jamieson 
Managing Director 

Polytechnic West
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ABOUT POLYTECHNIC WEST

Polytechnic West has established itself as a leading 
provider of Vocational Education and Training 
(VET) in Western Australia and a key contributor 
to improving the skill level and productivity of the 
Western Australian workforce and the social and 
economic wellbeing of individuals.

Through strong education, community and industry 
partnerships, Polytechnic West is committed to 
supporting individuals to reach their personal, 
educational and career goals, and providing 
workforce development solutions to build productivity 
and innovation of businesses.

Polytechnic West offers streamlined education and 
training pathways from VET into Higher Education via 
the following industry aligned training centres:

• Centre for Engineering and Mining
•   Centre for Aerospace
•   Centre for Construction and Work Safety
•   Centre for Hospitality and Culinary Arts
•   Centre for Electrical and Plumbing
•   Centre for Business and Information Technology
•   Centre for Fashion and Personal Services
•   Centre for Community Services and Health
•   Centre for Animals and Environment
•   Centre for Automotive Technology
• Centre for Education and Foundation Skills.
Education and training courses are designed with 
significant input from industry and are focused on 
developing highly skilled, job-ready graduates. These 
courses are delivered for individuals and employers 
by lecturers with industry relevant expertise using 
contemporary facilities and technology.

In 2014, Polytechnic West delivered more than 300 
nationally accredited courses, from  Certificate  I  
to Advanced Diploma and nine Higher Education 
courses, together with a range of customised  
fee-for-service programs and workforce development 
solutions.

27,292 students enrolled at Polytechnic West in 2014 
for a total of 35,806 course enrolments.

The largest age demographic enrolled at Polytechnic 
West was the 20-25 year old cohort with 9,522 course 
enrolments.  

2014 Student Course Enrolments by Age Group 

9396 9522

3838

6682

3889

1860

609

≤ 19 20-25 26-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 ≥ 60

The most popular Australian Qualification Framework 
(AQF) level enrolled in was the Certificate III with 
35% of total course enrolments. Over 24% of course 
enrolments were in Certificate IV and above level 
qualifications.

2014 Student Course Enrolments by Australian 
Qualification Framework Level 

8226

1501

4802

12637

2513

129 291

5706

 
Polytechnic West is the largest provider of 
apprenticeship training in Western Australia with a 
42% market share in new apprentice commencements 
across the areas of construction, mining, hospitality 
and automotive.  Of the total course enrolments 
at Polytechnic West, approximately 24% were in   
apprenticeships or traineeship programs.
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CAMPUS LOCATIONS

Polytechnic West has campuses across the 
metropolitan area which include:

Armadale 
 40 & 45 Commerce Avenue

 145 Jull Street
 Equine Training Centre
   Lot 6 Westfield Road

Balga
 Loxwood Road

Bentley
 Hayman Road

Carlisle
 Corner Oats and Bank Streets

Jandakot
 Centre for Aerospace, Administration  
   23 Eagle Drive
 Centre for Aerospace, Hangar
   14 Compass Road

Midland
 Corner Lloyd Street and Eddie Barron Drive

Thornlie
 Burslem Drive

Joseph Pauley’s silver medal-winning performance has seen 
him selected for the WorldSkills Australia squad.
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STRATEGIC PLAN 2014 - 2016

The Strategic Plan 2014-2016 outlines Polytechnic 
West’s vision, mission, values, strategies and 
objectives.

Vision 
Inspiring individuals, businesses and communities to 
create their future today.  
Your future. Our business.

Mission 
To provide contemporary tertiary education and 
training to enhance the career opportunities and 
personal growth of individuals and enhance the 
productivity of workplaces.

Values 
Responsiveness: We are responsive to our clients, 
providing services that meet their needs in a friendly 
and courteous manner.

Excellence: We support the pursuit of excellence, 
creativity and the sharing of knowledge by our staff to 
nurture a culture of sustained improvement.

Sustainability: We work to protect the environment, 
promote social advancement and contribute to the 
economic prosperity of Western Australia.

Integrity: We conduct our business in an ethical, 
open and honest manner that treats our clients and 
colleagues with respect and understanding.

Diversity: We recognise and build on the strength and 
understanding that comes from working with, and for, 
people from different backgrounds, circumstances 
and life experiences.

STRATEGIES AND OBJECTIVES

Deliver an outstanding student experience
Provide students with an industry current, 
contemporary learning environment which inspires 
interaction, collaboration and participation.

Provide quality, flexible teaching and assessment 
services and business services which enhance 
achievement and outcomes.

Deliver an outstanding employer experience
Provide workforce development services to meet the 
needs of local, national and international industry 
partners.

Provide effective administrative support and 
communication for employers.

Provide qualification pathways to facilitate life long 
learning and career progression
Increase access to qualification pathways to support:

• Career progression for existing workers
• School leaver transition into tertiary education
• VET student transition to Higher Education 

pathways.
Develop international linkages which provide global 
pathways for students.

Strengthen existing and developing new centres of 
specialisation and delivery areas
Align products and services to current and emerging 
government priorities, market demand and industry 
needs.

Increase recognition and strengthen reputation of 
centres of specialisation.

Develop eBusiness and eLearning capability to 
deliver a flexible and responsive learning and 
customer service experience
Introduce effective and efficient eBusiness systems 
and processes.

Design and manage integrated technology enhanced 
learning solutions.

Research and develop new products  
(courses and services) to attract new business
Increase and expand international activity.

Develop and align commercial products to current 
and emerging client needs.

Create strong community links to build diversity  
and increase inclusion
Expand opportunities for people from all communities 
to access Polytechnic West programs and services.

Maintain flexible and socially inclusive support 
services for the diverse needs of learners.

The 44th annual fashion show was a public showcase of 
collections from final year fashion students.
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OPERATING CONTEXT

Polytechnic West experienced changes in student 
demand which were driven by the introduction of the 
Western Australian entitlement model, Future Skills 
WA, and the structural changes in the economy. 

OVERALL DELIVERY PERFORMANCE

Polytechnic West  delivered  a  total  of  8,442,690 
Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) to 26,766 students 
for a total of 35,806 course enrolments. 

Publicly funded training places accounted for 
77% of total training activity, with approximately 
33% of publicly funded training delivered through 
apprenticeship and traineeship programs. 

Polytechnic West engaged young people in education 
and training through a range of pathway programs 
which included pre-apprenticeships, apprenticeships, 
traineeships, vocational certificates and short 
courses.

The number of course enrolments by young people 
(15-24) at Polytechnic West in 2014 was 17,848 
which equates to 50% of all enrolments, a slight 
increase in the proportion of young people enrolled 
at Polytechnic West compared to 2013.

The 2014 VET for School (VETfS) program attracted 
more than 1,200 applications from 97 metropolitan 
secondary schools.  The program included 21 full 
qualifications from Certificate II to Certificate IV level, 
with 550 students participating in VETfS programs.  
Unique opportunities were provided to secondary 
school students to learn practical skills and attain 
a qualification in their chosen industry and provide 
pathways to further training opportunities.

Polytechnic West enrolled over 1,100 overseas 
students across all VET and Higher Education 
programs. Over 35% of international student course 
enrolments were in hospitality and culinary arts, and 
29% in business and information technology.

Polytechnic West delivered a portfolio of nine Higher 
Education courses.  Overall comparison between 
2014 and 2013 data indicates a relatively stable 
annual enrolment, with 283 enrolments and 196.88 
Equivalent Full-time Student Load (EFTSL) in 2014.

Higher Education student numbers increased in 
the Associate Degree of Fashion Business and the 
Associate Degree of Hospitality Management in 
2014.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Polytechnic West engaged young people in education and 
training through a range of pathway programs.  
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STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE 

A snapshot of Polytechnic West’s performance 
against the strategic outcomes in the Polytechnic 
West Strategic Plan 2014 – 2016 is presented below.

Student Experience
2014 was another successful year for student 
outcomes.  Overall student satisfaction in Vocational 
Education and Training (VET) courses was again 
above 90%, as reported in the Australian Quality 
Training Framework Learner Satisfaction Survey.

A review of courses was undertaken in 2014 in order 
to better align our training to meet the workforce 
development needs of the State.  Results from the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development 
2014 Student Satisfaction Survey have confirmed the 
success of this strategy with over 90% of students 
satisfied with the survey statement “How likely it is 
that your course will lead to a job/career”.

Polytechnic West’s 2014 survey of international 
student satisfaction was also high, with 90% satisfied 
with their course. Similarly, the internal survey 
of Higher Education delivery reported an overall 
satisfaction of 91%.

Unit completion rates were above 80% for both VET 
and Higher Education courses.

VET UNIT COMPLETION RATE

Employer Experience
Polytechnic West’s overall employer satisfaction 
rating for 2014, as reported in the Australian Quality 
Training Framework Employer Survey, was above 
90%. Most employers were satisfied with the survey 
statements:

•  Polytechnic West gave appropriate recognition of 
existing knowledge and skills

•  The way employees were assessed was a fair test 
of their skills and knowledge

•  Our employees gained the skills they needed from 
this training.

To improve the timeliness and holistic nature of 
communication, Polytechnic West has invested in 
an Employment Based  Training  (EBT)  tracking  
system,  EBT Tracker. This system is designed to 
support delivery areas to improve the timeliness and 
relevance of apprenticeship   training   and   progress   
reporting. The EBT Tracker has been successfully 
trialed in a number of academic delivery areas in the 
Applied Engineering division.

Polytechnic West’s percentage of state wide market 
share in new apprentice commencements in the 
majority of industry areas has been maintained.

INDUSTRY AREA

MARKET SHARE 
NEW APPRENTICE 

COMMENCEMENTS 
2014     2013

Electrical and Plumbing 30% 30%
Construction 42% 47%
Engineering and Mining 56% 58%
Hospitality and Culinary Arts 43% 45%
Automotive Technology 52% 56%
TOTAL 42% 45%

eBusiness 
Polytechnic West’s eBusiness strategy has focused 
on building student-centred online business systems 
relating to student attraction, student service delivery 
and student management.

A new web based system, MyTech, was introduced 
in  2014  to  provide  students  with  an  interface  
to a range of consolidated student services which 
included: enrolment, email, results, library services, 
and eLearning. MyTech was accessed over 31,000 
times by students in 2014.

Improving the flexibility of the enrolment process was 
a key priority for Polytechnic West, with additional 
courses made available through the online enrolment 
system, Student Portal, and the introduction of a 
centralised telephone enrolment service. 

Over 2,200 students enrolled through Student Portal 
in 2014.  

2012 2013 2014

79%

80%

81%
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eLearning Capability
The Teaching and Learning division has continued 
to implement Polytechnic West’s eLearning 
Implementation Plan 2014 - 2015. This key strategy 
is designed to provide Polytechnic West students 
with a flexible eLearning experience to support their 
learning needs.

The strategy also guides and supports Polytechnic 
West lecturers along the eLearning pathway by 
developing their capability to effectively integrate 
eLearning within existing teaching, learning, and 
assessment practices.

In 2014, 1,271 online Moodle courses were developed 
and delivered through Polytechnic West’s Moodle  
Learning   Management  System  (Moodle LMS), and 
7,383 students accessed these resources.

In addition, regular professional development 
programs are offered through Polytechnic West’s 
Learning Development Unit to support lecturers in 
building their eLearning training skills. Over 120 
lecturing staff availed themselves of this support 
during 2014.

New Products and Business
Polytechnic West maintained 2013 levels of 
commercial revenue despite a changing Western 
Australian economy and increasing competition. In 
2014, Polytechnic West generated approximately 
$23.1 million in commercial revenue and delivered 
over 1.9 million Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) in 
fee-for-service delivery.

Key programs delivered on behalf of the Federal 
Government included the Adult Migrant English 
Program (AMEP) and Skills for Education and 
Employment (SEE) program. These programs 
accounted for approximately 788,000 SCH in 2014, 
which equated to an increase of 22%.

International delivery activity also increased by 
approximately 5% from 593,069 SCH in 2013 to 
622,639 SCH in 2014.  International delivery activity 
included onshore programs such as VET, Higher 
Education and ELICOS (English Language Intensive 
Courses for Overseas Students) courses and 
offshore programs such as business diploma courses 
delivered in partnership with Jingchu University of 
Technology (JCUT) in China.

Polytechnic West’s Higher Education provision 
provided employment and university pathways for 
domestic and international students in specialised, 
high demand fields through applied, practical 
learning experiences. In 2014, Higher Education 
activity focused on improvements to quality and 
service arrangements, expansion of articulation 
arrangements, and enhancement of academic 

relationships in consultation with universities and 
industry partners.

Community and Diversity
Polytechnic West has increased course enrolments 
for Aboriginal people and students with a disability in 
2014.  

The number of Aboriginal student course enrolments 
increased from 686 in 2013 to 708 in 2014, an 
increase of 3%. Similarly, the number of course 
enrolments from students with a disability increased 
by 3%, from 1,521 in 2013 to 1,567 in 2014.

The increase in Aboriginal participation can be 
attributed to the introduction of a new strategic 
partnership between atWork Australia and employers 
Sodexo and Australia Post as part of a Vocational 
Training and Employment Centre (VTEC) model.

Polytechnic West has aligned training programs to create 
pathways to further study or employment.
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ENABLING LEGISLATION

Polytechnic West is a body corporate, established 
under section 35 of the Vocational Education and 
Training Act 1996. 

MINISTER FOR TRAINING AND WORKFORCE 
DEVELOPMENT

1January – 7 December 2014
The Hon Dr Kim Hames MLA, Deputy Premier;   
Minister for Health; Training and Workforce 
Development.

8 December – 31 December 2014
The Hon Liza Harvey MLA, Minister for Police; 
Road Safety; Training and Workforce Development; 
Women’s Interests.

FUNCTIONS OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL

Polytechnic West is governed by a Governing Council 
which oversees the organisation’s operations and 
governance. 

The Governing Council has legislative authority to 
perform the following functions:

• Prepare a Polytechnic West training profile for 
approval by the Minister

• Develop and implement strategic and management 
plans for Polytechnic West

• Ensure that courses, programs and services are 
responsive to, and meet the needs of students, 
industry and the community

• Ensure that Polytechnic West meets its 
commitments under its Delivery and Performance 
Agreement (DPA) and any other contractual 
arrangements

• Delegate this power to the Managing Director 
through a formal mechanism of the Governing 
Council.

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Polytechnic West Governance Charter outlines 
the organisation’s governance structure and promotes 
the importance of good governance. Through this 
charter Polytechnic West is committed to:

• Implementing the Governance Framework  
throughout Polytechnic West

• Embracing the Office of Public Sector   
 Standards Commissioner’s nine    
principles of good governance

• Ensuring the minimum standards of    
governance are in place

• Continuing to take an active role in    
discussions regarding the ongoing    
development of the Governance Framework.

OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

Deputy Premier of Western Australia, Hon Dr Kim Hames MLA  
was a visiting head chef at Bentley Pines Restaurant.
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GENERAL MANAGER
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FOR TRAINING AND 

WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

International Business

Planning and
Organisational Effectiveness

Corporate
Communications

Aboriginal Services

Disability Services

Human Resources and
Workforce Planning

Finance and Purchasing

Information & Communication
Technology Services

Facilities and 
Infrastructure Planning

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Construction

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Commerce and Hospitality

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Foundation Skills and
Community Services

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Applied Engineering

• Centre for Construction and 
 Work Safety
• Centre for Electrical and Plumbing

• Centre for Animals and Environment
• Centre for Business 
 and Information Technology
• Centre for Fashion     
 and Personal Services
• Centre for Hospitality and Culinary Arts

• Adult Migrant English Program
• Centre for Community Services 
 and Health 
• Centre for Education  
 and Foundation Skills

GOVERNING
COUNCIL

MANAGING
DIRECTOR

GENERAL MANAGER
RESOURCES AND

CORPORATE SERVICES

GENERAL MANAGER
EDUCATION AND 

INDUSTRY SERVICES

Apprenticeships and
Traineeships

• Centre for AeroSpace
• Centre for Automotive Technology
• Centre for Engineering and Mining 
 

Education Services

FINANCE
COMMITTEE

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

ACADEMIC
BOARD

ORGANISATIONAL CHART
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EXECUTIVE TEAM

The Executive Team consists of the Managing 
Director, General Managers and Executive Directors. 
The Executive Team has overall responsibility for 
the day-to-day effective and efficient operation of 
Polytechnic West, and undertakes strategic planning 
for the future direction of the organisation. Members 
chair the bulk of  the governance committees at 
Polytechnic West.

General Manager, Education and Industry Services
Blair Marsh
Education and Industry Services is responsible for the 
development and delivery of Vocational Education 
and Training and Higher Education services, as well 
as maintenance of strategic education, and industry 
alliances and partnerships.

General Manager, Organisational Services 
Bill Swetman 
Organisational Services provide a range of services 
to support the needs of lecturers and students across 
Polytechnic West. These include: international 
business support, teaching and learning, corporate 
communications, planning, Aboriginal services, and 
disability services. 

General Manager, Resources and Corporate Services 
Jim Eftos 
Resources and Corporate Services provide the 
business systems and resources that support 
Polytechnic West’s overall business operations 
and governance requirements. These include:  
information communication and technology, finance, 
human resources, and facilities.

Executive Director, Commerce and Hospitality 
Brenda Micale 
The Executive Director leads and is accountable 
for the delivery of VET and workforce development 
services across the Commerce and Hospitality 
division. Areas of study include: hospitality and food 
trades, business and financial services, information 
technology, fashion, hairdressing, and animal studies.

Executive Director, Foundation Skills  
and Community Services 
Lyn Southam 
The Executive Director leads and is accountable 
for the delivery of VET and workforce development 
services across the Access and Community division. 
Areas of study include: Adult Migrant Education 
Program (AMEP), access programs, community 
services, children’s services, education support, and 
fitness.

Executive Director, Construction 
Rob Berryman
The Executive Director leads and is accountable 
for the delivery of VET and workforce development 
services across the Building and Construction 
division. Areas of study include: electrical, plumbing, 
carpentry, mortar trades, and horticulture.

Executive Director, Applied Engineering 
Jonathon Maile 
The Executive Director leads  and is  accountable  
for the delivery of VET and workforce development 
services across the Applied Engineering division. 
Areas of study include: aviation, automotive, fluid 
power, fitting and machining, metal fabrication, 
mining, and refrigeration and air-conditioning. 

Polytechnic West General Managers with  
WA Training Award winners  

Gino Auriemma, Emma Hay and Geoff Franklin.
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GOVERNING COUNCIL

Governing Council Membership 
As at 31 December 2014, membership of the 
Governing Council comprised:

Keith Vuleta (Chair) 
Appointed to Chair 2004
A Chartered Accountant with over 20 years 
experience, Keith Vuleta is the current Chief Financial 
Officer for MZI Resources. He has also held positions 
as Finance Director, Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary for publicly-listed companies 
in the mining, engineering and financial services 
industries.

Douglas Hall (Deputy Chair)
Appointed to Deputy Chair 2008
Doug Hall is an Industry Development Specialist 
with extensive experience working with businesses, 
industries and organisations to facilitate the 
development and implementation of fit-for-purpose 
improvements. He has worked with a diverse range 
of industries, including agriculture, horticulture, 
water and waste.  Doug has board and committee 
experience across a diverse range of sectors, 
including government, industry, community, arts, 
natural resource management, research, sport and 
training.  

Tracey McGrath
Appointed 2005
Tracey McGrath is Managing Director of    Tracey    
McGrath   International Pty Ltd, a boutique 
management consultancy that specialises in 
productivity and workplace behaviour.  A featured 
expert in radio, print and television programs,  Tracey  
speaks at  conferences  across  Australia  on effective 
workplace behaviour.

Rob Brittain  
Appointed 2008 to 2014  
Rob Brittain has gained wide-ranging experience 
over 16 years, from lending and sales, to office 
and personnel management, in both branch and 
centralised       site       environments. Rob currently 
occupies a position with BHP Billiton as the manager 
for communities. 

Susan Boase
Appointed 2009
Susan Boase  brings over 20 years business 
experience from an extensive international marketing 
career for companies such as Reckitt Benckiser and 
Diageo to primary production, and operating her own 
cattle farm in the Shire of York.

Angela Edwards
Appointed 2010 to 2014
Angela Edwards is a highly motivated HR professional 
with more than 20 years’ experience. Angela is 
currently the Human Resources Director for a global 
aviation company covering the Asia Pacific area. 

Dr Nicholas Gara
Appointed 2012
Dr Nicholas Gara taught mechanical and production 
engineering at TAFE until a series of promotional 
positions led to his appointment as Managing Director. 
This   was   then   followed by extended experience in 
similar positions as Director and President of tertiary 
colleges in the Middle East.

Polytechnic West ‘s training delivery focuses on the  
practical application of skills.
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Prof. Majella Franzmann
Appointed 2011
Professor Majella Franzmann is Pro Vice-Chancellor 
in the Faculty of Humanities at Curtin University. She 
was elected a Fellow of the Australian Academy of 
the Humanities in 2001 and awarded an Australian 
Centenary Medal in 2003. 

Peter McCaffrey
Appointed 2012
Peter recently retired after 44 years in the state public 
service from his roles as the Deputy Director General, 
Finance and Administration, and Chief Finance 
Officer of the Department of Education and Training. 
During this time he made a significant contribution 
to education and training, and  helped  shape  the  
programs  and  resourcing that has provided many 
West Australians with the opportunity to succeed in 
their chosen endeavours.

Dr Irene Ioannakis
Appointed 2013 to 2014
Irene    is   currently    the   Manager for Organisational 
Capability and Development for Chevron.  Irene  has  
30  years’  experience  in the disciplines of Vocational 
Education and Training (VET), secondary and tertiary 
education, and human resources management.   Irene 
is a member of the Training Accreditation Council 
(TAC) and the Motor Trades Association (MTA) – 
both based in Western Australian, and a fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Management (AIM).

Mark Zorbas
Appointed 2013 to 2014
Mark Zorbas is the Organisational Development & 
Training Manager for Asia Pacific Australia at CB&I. 
Mark has in-depth and extensive experience in 
Vocational Education and Training within the public, 
private, community-based and international sectors. 
In leadership roles held, Mark has been responsible 
for developing and implementing training strategies 
and plans for large national and global organisations, 
and has actively sought best practices in all realms of 
training and development.  

 Polytechnic West and Singapore Institute of Technical 
Education will cooperate in the areas of  

student and staff exchange.
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OUTCOMES-BASED  
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Government goals are supported at agency level 
by specific, desired outcomes. Agencies deliver 
services to achieve these outcomes, which ultimately 
contribute to meeting the higher level government 
goals. In late 2010, the State Government released 
Skilling WA, a whole-of-government response to 
workforce development issues. Embedded within 
Skilling WA is the Government’s 10-year plan for the 
training sector, Training WA.

The table below illustrates the relationship between 
Polytechnic West’s outcomes and the most 
appropriate government goals.

CHANGES TO OUTCOMES-BASED 
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

There was no change to Polytechnic West’s Outcome 
Based Management Framework in 2014.

SHARED RESPONSIBILITIES  
WITH OTHER AGENCIES

Polytechnic West receives its annual funding 
allocation from the State Government through a 
resource agreement (Delivery and Performance 
Agreement) with the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development (DTWD). Polytechnic West 
reports to DTWD on outcomes under that agreement.

PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Government goal Desired outcome Polytechnic West services

Outcomes Based Service Delivery

Greater focus on achieving results 
in key service delivery areas for 
the benefit of all West Australians.

Provision of education and training 
services to meet community and 
industry training needs.

Training programs for nationally 
recognised qualifications.

Apprenticeship and traineeship 
training.

Entry and bridging courses leading 
into mainstream courses.

Commercial training, workforce 
development services, customised 
training, and short courses.
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AUSTRALIAN TRAINING AWARDS
Emma Hay
Trainee of the Year - Runner-up

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN TRAINING AWARDS
Geoffrey Franklin (Commercial Cookery)
Apprentice of the Year
Emma Hay (Veterinary Nursing)
Trainee of the Year 
Genaro Auriemma (Building and Construction)
Vocational Student of the Year 
Michael Snook
Apprentice of the Year - Finalist
Chris Kirkpatrick
Apprentice of the Year - Finalist

 
POLYTECHNIC WEST AWARDS
Michael Snook
Geof Gale Medallist 
Genaro Auriemma
Vocational Student of the Year 
Michael Snook 
Apprentice of the Year 
Emma Hay 
Trainee of the Year 
Skye Shaw 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Student of the Year 
Ringa Paalanen
International Student of the Year
Anggy Tanjaya
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Student of the Year 

Jameel David
School Based Student of the Year
Eddie Campbell 
Vocational Lecturer Excellence Award
Trevlyn Farrar
Higher Education Student of the Year 
Kingsley Dunstan
Higher Education Lecturer Excellence Award

POLYTECHNIC WEST ALUMNI 2014 INDUCTEES
Andrew Scudds
Debbie O’Hara

POLYTECHNIC WEST MANAGING DIRECTOR’S 
AWARD 
Jeff Gittos (Transport Head of Programs) 

STUDENT AND POLYTECHNIC  
WEST AWARD WINNERS

WA Apprentice of the Year, Geoff Franklin, 
at the 2014 WA Training Awards.

Polytechnic West  Award winners with   
Keith Veleta (third from left) and Jill Jamieson (fifth from left).

Polytechnic West Managing Director’s Award winner  
Jeff Gittos (centre).
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WORLDSKILLS STATE MEDALLISTS 
Steven Harmsen  (Auto Electrical)
Mahmoud Ahmad  (Autobody Repair)
Katherine Strahan  (Automotive Mechanics)
Dylan Marsh  (Bricklaying)
John Curtin Cabinetmaking)
Aaron Purdy  (Construction Steel Work)
Kevin Senjaya  (Cookery)
Melissa Westwood  (Fashion Technology)
Julia Wood  (Fashion Technology)
Cameron Creagh  (Painting and Decorating)
Luke Montford  (Plastering)
William Stewart  (Refrigeration)
Michael Snook  (Refrigeration)
Christopher Kirkpatrick  (Retail Baking – Bread)
Laura Mackwell  (Retail Baking – Pastry)
Harley Clements  (Signage)
Joseph Pauley  (Turning)
Jayden Cook  (Vehicle Painting)
Tameeshya Vukojevich  
 (VETiS Automotive Services)
Mick Ivey  (Wall and Floor Tiling)
Jarett Lim  (Wall and Floor Tiling)

ULTIMATE SKILLS CHALLENGE
Jarrett Lim  (Wall and Floor Tiling)
Gold Medal  
Best in Nation Award
Julia Wood  (Fashion Technology)
Gold Medal
Harley Clements  (Signage) 
Gold Medal
Christopher Kirkpatrick  (Retail Baking – Bread) 
Silver Medal
Laura Mackwell  (Retail Baking – Pastry)
Silver Medal
Joseph Pauley  (Turning)
Silver Medal
Jayden Cook  (Vehicle Painting)
Bronze Medal
Mick Ivey  (Wall and Floor Tiling)
Bronze Medal

RAC ADVANTAGE AWARDS
Aleisha Dyer 
Third year apprentice - Refinishing
Alex Wright 
Panel Beating

2014 BEAZLEY MEDAL VOCATIONAL EDUCATION 
AND TRAINING (VET) 
Robert Rubery  (Information Technology)

Jarret Lim, Wall and Floor Tiling Gold Medalist and   
Best in Nation winner, at the Ultimate Skills Challenge.

Ultimate Skills Challenge Gold Medalists  
Julia Wood (L) Fashion Technology  

and Harley Clements (R) Signage.
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COMBINED REFRIGERATION AND AIR 
CONDITIONING AWARDS
Reece J Young
Best Performance in Pre-Apprentice Studies
Zach Davies 
Most Deserving Student in the First Year of Apprentice 
Training 
Nathan Giles 
Best Performance in the First Year of Apprentice 
Training 
Andrew Penfield Hill 
Most Deserving Student in the Second Year of 
Apprentice Training 
William Stewart 
Best Performance in the Second Year of Apprentice 
Studies
Ben Walsh 
Most Deserving Student in Third Year of Apprentice 
Training
Daniel Smith 
Best Performance in the Third Year of Apprentice 
Training 
Ian Brown 
Most Improved in the Diploma of Refrigeration & Air 
Conditioning 
Brayden Leigh Hay
Best Performance in Diploma Studies 
Neil Bishop
Refrigeration & Air Conditioning Apprentice of the Year 
Michael Snook
Airefrig Australia Scholarship Award 
Greenstar Mechanical Services
Trainer of the Year 

GOLD PLATE AWARDS
Bentley Pines Restaurant
Best Restaurant within a Training Establishment

POLYTECHNIC WEST, 
WEST AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF FASHION AND 
TEXTILES FASHION AWARDS
Industry Judged Awards 
Jessica Nella
Most Outstanding Design
Rosemaree White
Range of the Year
Jessica Jones
Xpress Fashion Graduate Award
Claudia Fallon
Gerber CAD Training Award
Polytechnic West Judged Awards 
Sarah Akers 

Textile Innovation Award
Holly Mumford 
Product Management Award
Julia Wood
Range Development Award
Elise Pratarelli 
Most Consistent Student
Melanie Cooper 
Student of the Year

HELLA AUTOMOTIVE ELECTRICAL EXCELLENCE 
AWARDS
Sarah Knipe 
Stage 3 (final year) Apprentice of the Year

DVG AUTOMOTIVE GROUP AND POLYTECHNIC 
WEST AUTOMOTIVE APPRENTICE OF THE YEAR 
AWARDS
David Brookes
Pre-Apprentice Award
Andy Chong 
Certificate III International Award
Kieran Hug 
First Year Automotive Award
David Jones 
Outdoor Power Equipment Award
Steven Boyle 
Motorcycle Award
Mitchell Aston-Waters
Second Year Automotive Award
Brian Kim 
International Diploma Award
Scott Hollwarth 
Third Year Automotive Award

GLOBAL CHEFS COMPETITION (HONG KONG)
Kevin Senjaya  (Apprentice Chef)
Leo Chong   (Apprentice Chef)
Denis Boulet (Lecturer)
Overall Winners

Executive Director Commerce and Hospitality Brenda Micale  
and hospitality lecturers and staff with the Gold Plate Award.
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DIVISIONAL OVERVIEW

The Applied Engineering division delivers a range 
of education and training courses   and   workplace   
development   solutions to diverse groups of students 
and employers through the following industry aligned 
training delivery centres:

• Centre for Engineering and Mining
• Centre for Automotive Technology
• Centre for Aerospace.

In 2014, the Applied Engineering division delivered 
2,451,547 SCH to 8,248 students for a total of 9,006 
course enrolments. 

Centre for Engineering and Mining 
Polytechnic West continued to work closely with 
Scientific Management Associates to provide trade 
and post-trade qualifications for Australian Navy 
personnel throughout Western Australia in the areas 
of diesel mechanics, fluid power, refrigeration and 
electronic engineering.  

A new Diploma and Advanced Diploma of 
Engineering specialising in Heating Ventilation and 
Air-conditioning (HVAC) has been developed for 
existing trade workers.  Both programs incorporated 
advanced skills training in the latest industry practices 
and technologies, including 3D Building Information 
Modelling (BIM). 

Online learning resources, including video tutorials, 
continued to be developed for the Certificate IV in 
Instrumentation.  

A new Aboriginal Traineeship in Certificate II Surface 
Extraction Operations has been developed in 
collaboration with EDI Mining to improve training and 
employment pathways for Aboriginal people. 

Industrial gas courses have been developed to 
meet the growing demand in the resource sector for 
gasfitter training.  A customised industrial gas course 
was successfully delivered to BHP employers and 
individual trade persons in the Pinjarra region.  

In collaboration with Chicago Bridge & Iron Company 
(CB&I), a customised, intensive and ‘just in time’ 
block training program was successfully delivered to 
80 new apprentices in metal fabrication, welding, and 
fitting and machining.  

Fitting and machining apprentice Joseph Pauley 
performed strongly at the National World Skills 
Competition in Perth, receiving a silver medal overall. 
Joseph has been invited to join the Skillaroos, for 
the International WorldSkills Competition in Brazil in 
2015.

AGENCY PERFORMANCE
APPLIED ENGINEERING

CB&I has partnered with Polytechnic West to deliver 
customised training to more than 80 apprentices.
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Centre for Automotive Technology
Polytechnic West secured a national contract with 
SunCorp insurance for the training of their affiliated 
Smash Repair technicians, ensuring their skills are 
current and they are competent with the latest repair 
technologies.  

An innovative and flexible training program was 
developed for the Automotive Holdings Group 
(AHG).  This project was referred to as their AHG123 
- Step into Employment program, and resulted in the 
selection and training of students to prepare them for 
future employment in the automotive industry.

Heavy automotive and plant equipment, such as a 
PC-8 Excavator donated by Komatsu and a Caterpillar 
980 Wheel Loader donated by Downer EDI Mining, 
has enabled Polytechnic West to deliver training 
using industry current equipment and technology.

Courses in light automotive mechanical and 
technology, which are in strong demand by industry, 
were delivered to approximately 50 international 
students. 

Automotive Head of Programs, Jeffrey Gittos, 
was awarded the Managing Director’s Award for 
excellence in industry partnerships, having worked 
successfully with a range of employers to incorporate 
new equipment and technologies across a range of 
heavy automotive training programs.

Centre for Aerospace
Working with industry partners and employers 
of apprentices, Polytechnic West has been able 
to streamline the delivery of the Certificate IV in 
Aeroskills. This has been achieved through aligning 
training plans to new Civil Aviation Safety Authority 
(CASA) licensing requirements and improving the 
responsiveness of apprentice progress reporting to 
employers.

A crew member security training course was 
developed to meet industry demand and national and 
international regulatory requirements. This course 
was embedded into the existing Certificate III in 
Aviation (Flight Operations) and offered through a 
fee-for-service arrangement.  

Customised programs in smoke and fire training, 
CASA emergency slide training and CASA radio 
operator were delivered to a range of clients through 
a fee-for-service arrangement. 

The Certificate II in Cabin Crew course has continued 
to be a popular program with students and employers. 
At the completion of the course, 88% of course 
graduates were interviewed by airline companies for 
employment vacancies in the industry.  

Polytechnic West was contracted by the IDAT 
Institute (international training provider) to provide 
quality improvement to curriculum for Saudi military 
training programs.  

Centre for Aerospace student, Skye Shaw, was 
awarded the Polytechnic West student award for 
Aboriginal Student of the Year.  Skye also achieved 
the Highly Commended award for Trainee of the Year 
at the national Transport and Logistics Industry Skills 
Council Awards for Excellence held in Melbourne.Downer EDI Mining has donated equipment and technology  

to the heavy automotive training facility in Thornlie.
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DIVISIONAL OVERVIEW

The Commerce and Hospitality division worked 
alongside industry partners, local government 
authorities and community organisations to deliver 
a range of nationally accredited courses through 
the following industry aligned education and training 
centres:

• Centre for Hospitality and Culinary Arts

• Centre for Business and Information Technology

• Centre for Fashion and Personal Services

• Centre for Animals and Environment.

In 2014, the Commerce and Hospitality division 
delivered 2,080,701 SCH to 6,645 students for a total 
of 7,646 course enrolments. 

Centre for Hospitality and Culinary Arts 
Crown Perth and Polytechnic West celebrated the 
graduation of 202 existing worker trainees at a gala 
event held at Crown Perth in August 2014.  The 
trainees completed the Certificate IV in Hospitality 
(Supervision) and for many this represented the 
achievement of their first qualification since leaving 
school.  The program had an unprecedented outcome 
of 96% completion.

Coles Supermarkets expanded its partnership with 
Polytechnic West through the delivery of a specialist 
training program for meat slicers and packers to 14 
employees from across the State. 

Polytechnic West, Sodexo and atWork Australia 
partnered to launch Western Australia’s first Aboriginal 
employment program under the federal government’s 
Vocational Training and Employment Centre (VTEC) 
program.  The first Perth-based VTEC is led by 
atWork Australia, with Polytechnic West appointed as 
the premier training provider for the project.  Sodexo 
commenced a traineeship in the Certificate II in 
Hospitality Operations for 17 Aboriginal trainees in 
late 2014. 

Chefs from some of Perth’s most prestigious 
restaurants continued to support Polytechnic West’s 
Centre for Hospitality and Culinary Arts for the fifth 
instalment of the popular Great Chefs Great Wines 
dinner series.  

The series included special Guest Chef, the Deputy 
Premier of Western Australia, the Hon Dr Kim Hames 
MLA, who worked with Polytechnic West’s hospitality 
and commercial cookery apprentices and trainees to 
prepare his three-course menu for 80 industry and 
special guests.  The event raised money for Youth 
Focus, a not-for-profit organisation aiming to prevent 
youth suicide, depression and harm.

Polytechnic West entered into partnership with the 
international accrediting body, City & Guilds.  The first 
pilot group of students all achieved a distinction in the 
examination.

A new Diploma of Events was introduced at 
Polytechnic West in 2014.  This program provided 
participants with practical skills in the organisation of 
high profile events, including high teas and dinners, 
with the proceeds of these events donated to local 
charities such as Breast Cancer Research and Riding 
for the Disabled. 

Commercial cookery apprentice, Geoffrey Franklin, 
won the prestigious WA Training Awards Apprentice 
of the Year.  Geoffrey is employed by Crown Perth 
and is a further example of the strong partnership 
with Crown Perth and Polytechnic West.

AGENCY PERFORMANCE
COMMERCE AND 
HOSPITALITY

An Aboriginal employment program launched at the  
Balga campus involves Aboriginal students undertaking  

on- and off-the-job training.
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Polytechnic West’s Bentley Pines Training Restaurant 
continued to demonstrate excellence in all facets 
of its operation by winning back to back Gold Plate 
Awards as the Best Training Restaurant in Western 
Australia. The Gold Plate Awards, conducted by The 
Catering Institute of Australia since 1967, is a highly 
successful hospitality industry awards program and 
enjoys a strong reputation throughout the industry.  
This is the fifth time the Bentley Pines Restaurant has 
won this prestigious award.

Centre for Business and Information Technology
Polytechnic West established a partnership with 
Solarhart Industries Pty Ltd for the provision of 
specialist recognition services for their existing 
workforce.  Over 80 staff achieved qualifications in 
business, logistics and management studies.

Polytechnic West continued to work with a number 
of local government authorities, such as the Cities of 
Gosnells, Canning and Armadale, to deliver training 
solutions to support the growth of small and micro 
business in these areas.  Activities to date have 
included the development and expansion of a work 
placement program for information technology 
students, staff attendance at networking and business 
development seminars, and the development and 
flexible delivery of a new range of short courses.

Strong partnerships continue to be forged with Jingchu 
University of Technology (JCUT) which is located in 
Hubei Province, China.  The existing agreement for 
the auspicing of the Diploma of Management has 
been delivered at JCUT since September 2010.  In 
2014 the Diploma of Accounting was added to the 
agreement.  In 2014, a total of 38 students studied 
the Diploma of Management and 57 new students 
commenced the Diploma of Accounting. 

JCUT also commenced a Lecturer Mobility Program 
with Polytechnic West in 2014.  The program, funded 
by the regional government in China, involved 
two Chinese lecturers undertaking a three month 
program at Polytechnic West focused on developing 
and improving English language skills, training and 
assessment skills, cultural awareness and lecturer 
vocational competence.

Centre for Fashion and Personal Services
Polytechnic West expanded its delivery of training 
and assessment qualifications to local and off shore 
international students.  Crown Perth continued its 
support through the existing partnership that has 
seen 24 employees complete their Certificate IV in 
Training and Assessment.  

Twenty Polytechnic West fashion students were 
finalists at the Student Runway event at the 2014 
Perth Fashion Week.  The event showcased designs 
from Perth’s most talented fashion designers across 
six categories, including eco design, high-vis vest, 
ready to wear men’s, ready to wear women’s, evening 
wear and costume.  The event is scheduled into the 
delivery of our program and offers many students a 
once in a lifetime opportunity to show their collection 
at Perth’s premier fashion event.

Centre for Animals and Environment
Chevron Australia was recognised as the Commerce 
and Hospitality division’s Employer of the Year. 
The partnership with Chevron Australia and the 
Centre for Animals and the Environment continues 
to go from strength to strength.  In 2014, Chevron 
commissioned the centre to facilitate seven Fauna 
Handling workshops for a total of 40 employees to 
support its ongoing commitment to the preservation 
of native wildlife.

The 2014 Polytechnic West Trainee of the Year was 
Emma Hay.  Emma, a Veterinary Nursing student, was 
also declared the 2013 Beazley Medal (VET) winner 
by the School Curriculum and Standards Authority in 
Western Australia.  The 17-year old completed the 
Certificate IV in Veterinary Nursing qualification as a 
trainee while finishing her final year of high school.  
Emma’s efforts have put her closer to her dream of 
becoming a vet; she has been rewarded with a place 
in Murdoch University’s Animal Science degree, 
which will lead into a Veterinary Science degree by 
2016.
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DIVISIONAL OVERVIEW

The Construction division delivers training courses 
and workforce development solutions to a diverse 
group of students and businesses through the 
following industry aligned education and training 
centres:

• Centre for Construction and Workplace Safety

• Centre for Electrical and Plumbing.

In 2014, the Construction division delivered 1,389,574 
SCH to 5,598 students for a total of 5,903 course 
enrolments.

Centre for Construction and Work Safety
Polytechnic West continued to refine its trade training 
programs across a number of construction delivery 
areas to provide flexible workplace based support for 
trade training delivery.  

New online learning resources and flexible 
assessment methods were introduced in bricklaying, 
tiling and carpentry courses, which provided 
apprentices and employers with the opportunity to 
meet competency standards in the workplace and 
fast-track their apprenticeship.   

Sustainability continues to be a key feature of 
construction courses, with students receiving the 
latest skills and knowledge in recycling and waste 
management practices. Photovoltaic and sustainable 
water technologies are also part of their core training 
program.

A new customised training program delivered in 
consultation with Mercy Care to disengaged youth 
proved to be a major success, with 60% of the 
participants commencing an apprenticeship after the 
program.

Career pathways in VET in Schools have been 
bolstered in 2014 with the introduction of the 
Certificate II in Construction Training Pathways. 
Strong support from the Construction Training Fund 
and employers has resulted in an additional intake 
of 45 students into this program. A new short course 
in bricklaying has also provided 14 students with an 
alternative pathway into an apprenticeship.

Polytechnic West collaborated with Girrawheen and 
Armadale High Schools which resulted in the delivery 
of the construction trade pathways to school students 
at the school’s trade training centres and Polytechnic 
West’s Balga and Midland campuses. 

Polytechnic West raised its profile in the construction 
industry and community sectors through participation 
at key industry networking functions, trade-training 
expos and involvement in the World Skills and Global 
Skills competitions. 

Construction division lecturer, Eddie Campbell, was 
presented with the Polytechnic West VET Lecturer of 
the Year award for excellence in trade training and 
his contribution as a WorldSkills mentor.

Polytechnic students performed strongly at the 2014 
WorldSkills national competition held in Perth.  Jarett 
Lim won the Gold Medal and Best in Nation (top 
competitor overall) in Wall and Floor Tiling and Harley 
Clements won the Gold Medal in Signage.

Polytechnic West also provided a specialised delivery 
of the Certificate IV in Training and Assessment to the 
Creative Craftsman Apprenticeship (CCA) program in 
Singapore.  This program is a joint initiative between 
the Singapore Furniture Industries Council (SFIC), the 
National Trades Union Congress e2i (Employment 
and Employability Institute), the Singapore Workforce 
Development Agency (WDA) and Polytechnic West.  
In total, seven workplace trainers successfully 
completed the qualification, delivered on site by a 
Polytechnic West specialist trainer.

AGENCY PERFORMANCE
CONSTRUCTION

New online learning resources and flexible assessment 
methods were introduced in bricklaying.
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Centre for Electrical and Plumbing
Both the plumbing and electrical delivery areas 
continued to offer the most popular qualifications 
in the Construction division.  Pre-apprenticeship 
programs were fully subscribed with almost 200 
student course enrolments.

The contemporary plumbing training facility at Balga 
campus has increased the number of workshops and 
specialised equipment available, resulting in a six 
percent growth in student enrolments in 2014. The 
portfolio continues to promote sustainability training 
products via fee-for-service programs and training 
package delivery. Green and grey water management 
systems were donated by industry as part of the new 
facility.

Enrolments in electrical training have also grown in 
2014, which can be attributed to diversifying delivery in 
data and communications career pathway programs 
through Dream Factory and Career Link school 
networks. Polytechnic West continued to promote 
new electro-technology delivery opportunities, 
including General Skills Migration assessments and 
gap training, and post trade training such as electrical 
contractors licensing.

The Q-Tracker, Polytechnic West’s online training 
tracking system, continued to support apprentices in 
training and contributed to a high unit completion rate 
of 88%.  Over 4,000 students used Q-Tracker to track 
the completion of on-the-job tasks.

 Genaro Auriemma won the  
Vocational Student of the Year at the WA Training Awards.
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DIVISIONAL OVERVIEW

The Foundation Skills and Community Services 
division works with industry to provide work-ready  
employees in various occupation streams through 
the following education and training centres:

• Centre for Education and Foundation Skills
• Centre for Community Services and Health
• Adult English Migrant Program (AMEP).

The Foundation Skills and Community Services 
division also works with government and non- 
government organisations to provide foundation skills 
pathways into employment and further training for 
migrants, early school leavers, people with disability 
and Aboriginal people.  

In 2014, the Foundation Skills  and  Community  
Services division  delivered 2,498,585 SCH to 9,900 
students for a total of 12,521 course enrolments.  

Centre for Education and Foundation Skills
Polytechnic West is working with 11 family day care 
services throughout the metropolitan area to train 
early childhood education and care professionals, 
running family day care businesses in their own 
homes.

Through the collaborative project, The Playground, 
Polytechnic West works with a private school hub 
and early childhood education and care employers to 
enable school students to complete a Certificate III in 
Early Childhood Education and Care. On completing 
school, participants have their entry level qualification 
and relevant work experience and therefore are  
job -ready.

Polytechnic West’s Literacy through Art program 
for people living with disability and mental illness, 
which is delivered in collaboration with DADAA (not-
for-profit community arts and cultural development 
organisation) and Disabilities Services providers 
at Midland campus, was chosen for exhibition in 
November. 

The exhibition was the Act – Belong – Commit 2014 
As We Are Art Award sponsored by the City of Perth 
and was displayed in the Central Park Building in the 
Perth metropolitan area.

Polytechnic West worked with the Midvale Early 
Childhood and Parenting Hub to provide the Midland 
Young Parents program for parents aged from 16 
to 21. Graduates of the program went into different 
pathways, including vocational training and university 
study.

In collaboration with Swan City Youth Services, 
Polytechnic West has provided a community-based 
literacy and numeracy program for young people at 
risk of disengagement from employment and training. 
As part of the program, the young people have 
undertaken project-based industry pathways training 
at Midland campus. 

Young people with intellectual disability in foundation 
skills courses have participated in employment 
pathways programs, completing small scale projects 
in industry-focused workshops while also developing 
workplace safety and workplace communication 
skills.

Polytechnic West’s ELICOS (English Language 
Intensive Courses for Overseas Students) Centre 
was awarded a Certificate of Quality Endorsement 
from NEAS (National English Language Teaching 
Accreditation Scheme), indicating the organisation 
is delivering high quality outcomes to international 
students at the centre.

AGENCY PERFORMANCE
FOUNDATION SKILLS AND 
COMMUNITY SERVICES

 Polytechnic West’s ELICOS Centre was awarded a 
Certificate of Quality Endorsement from NEAS  

(National English Language Teaching Accreditation Scheme).
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Centre for Community Services and Health
A student placement agreement has been established 
with Regis Aged Care Pty Ltd to provide work 
placement opportunities to students training to enter 
the Aged Care industry. Through work experience in 
Regis facilities, students develop and practise their 
skills so that they will be job-ready on graduation.

A Memorandum of Understanding has been 
established with the Department of Corrective 
Services to provide work experience opportunities 
to community services students who want to work 
in the Youth Justice Services and Adult Community 
Corrections areas of Corrective Services.

Working with the Mental Health Commission and 
other industry stakeholders, Polytechnic West 
Mental Health lecturers established a learning and 
assessment model for concurrent on-the-job and off-
the-job delivery of the Certificate IV in Mental Health 
Peer Work. Polytechnic West delivered the first 
program in Western Australia and the first graduates 
in the State were recognised by the Minister for Mental 
Health, Hon Helen Morton MLC, at a ceremony at 
Parliament House during Mental Health Week.

Fitness students have conducted fitness classes 
under supervision at Pure Fitness, one of the largest 
commercial gymnasiums in Western Australia. The 
partnership with Pure Fitness provides Polytechnic 
West students with workplace experience as fitness 
instructors. As well, students gain work experience 
in the specialised area of fitness for the aged while 
also contributing to community wellness by providing 
customised exercise routines for seniors from Arcadia 
Waters village.

  

Adult Migrant English Program (AMEP)
Under contract to the Australian Government 
Department of Education and Training, the 
Foundation and Community Services division delivers 
customised commercial programs through the Adult 
Migrant English Program (AMEP) and the Skills for 
Education and Employment (SEE) program.

AMEP services are delivered throughout the Southern 
Metropolitan Region, and rural and regional Western 
Australia. AMEP services delivered by Polytechnic 
West include English language tuition; childcare 
services for eligible AMEP clients; vocational 
and educational counselling services; language 
pathways to employment programs; a Home Tutor 
service providing one-to-one tuition; and a training 
scheme for English language volunteers working in 
community organisations.

SEE services are delivered in collaboration with 
Centrelink, Jobs Services Australia (JSA) providers 
and Disability Employment Services (DES) in the East 
Metropolitan and Northern Metropolitan Regions. 
Through the program, eligible job seekers are able to 
develop their language, literacy and numeracy skills, 
and also undertake work experience.

Under contract to the Australian Government 
Department of Immigration and Border Protection, 
Polytechnic West delivered non-accredited English 
language programs to adults living in community 
detention and those on bridging visas.

Polytechnic West works with employers in all 
industries to arrange work experience opportunities 
for students in foundation skills programs, including 
the Adult Migrant English Program (AMEP) and the 
Skills for Education and Employment (SEE) program, 
giving participants insight into job opportunities and 
workplace practices.Graduating students in the Certificate IV in Mental Health  

(Peer Work) with the  Minister for Mental Health.
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In 2014, Polytechnic West conducted an analysis 
of external trends and challenges that are likely to 
impact on the organisation over the next three years. 
These issues include:

FUTURE SKILLS WA  
– COMPETITIVE TRAINING MARKET

The Future Skills WA funding model, which was 
implemented by the State Government in 2014, 
is expected to continue to impact on Vocational 
Education and Training (VET) over the next two years. 
It is likely, for instance, that the number of training 
providers accessing publically funded training places 
will increase; thereby resulting in greater competition.

Polytechnic West has prepared for a more competitive 
environment by continuing to consolidate product 
offerings, improve the responsiveness of customer 
and administrative services, and enhance online 
technologies to support students to achieve course 
completion.

WESTERN AUSTRALIA’S ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

It is anticipated that the State’s economy will 
continue to be tested over the coming years. As the 
construction phase for many of the State’s major 
resource and infrastructure projects transition to the 
operational phase, capital spending is expected to 
soften in 2015. 

The softening of labour market conditions is expected 
to boost non-resources sectors of the economy such 
as retail trade, finance and insurance services, 
administrative and support services and health care 
and social assistance, where a growth in employment 
demand is expected over the coming years.

Polytechnic West will respond to new growth sectors 
by working closely with industry to develop and 
implement timely and relevant workforce development 
programs and services.

STANDARDS FOR REGISTERED TRAINING 
ORGANISATIONS (RTOs) 2015

In April 2014, the Australian Government commenced 
a review of the Standards for RTOs and VET 
regulators as part of its broader VET reform agenda. 
The new Standards will be introduced from 1 January  
2015, but will not come into effect in Western Australia 
until 1 April 2015, once the Vocational Education 
and Training (General) Regulations 2009 (Western 
Australia) have been amended to incorporate 
appropriate references to the Standards.

The new Standards for RTOs will have a broader 
focus across both delivery and assessment and will 
strengthen compliance requirements in relation to 
industry engagement, systematic validation, trainer 
and assessor qualifications, third party delivery and 
award issuance. 

Polytechnic West will support academic and 
administrative staff in the transition to the new 
Standards through the review, update and 
communication of key policies and procedures and 
the delivery of timely professional development 
sessions. 

CHANGES IN WRITTEN LAW

There were no changes in written law that affected 
Polytechnic West during 2014.

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES 
IMPACTING THE AGENCY

The Hospitality portfolio has become Australia’s  
first approved assessment centre for City & Guilds, London.
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES 

No Ministerial Directives were received during the 
financial year.

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES 

Pricing policies of services provided 
Fees and charges levied by Polytechnic West were 
in accordance with the requirements of the following:
• Vocational Education and Training Act 1996
• Vocational Education and Training Regulations 

1996
• Policy Guidelines for Publicly Funded Registered 

Training Organisations (RTOs)
• Programs for Fees and Charges.

Polytechnic West has complied with the requirements 
of the Financial Management Act 2006. Polytechnic 
West has exercised controls which provide 
reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of monies, the acquisition and 
disposal of public property and incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

The Higher Education unit again reviewed its fees 
for 2014 and increased these by the Consumer Price 
Index. 

CAPITAL WORKS

Polytechnic West did not undertake any capital works 
programs during 2014.

RECORDKEEPING PLANS

Section 19 of the State Records Act 2000 requires all 
agencies to have an approved Record Keeping Plan 
that must be complied with by Polytechnic West and 
its officers.

A new Record Keeping Plan was commenced in 
2014 and will replace the current Record Keeping 
Plan which was approved by the State Records 
Commission in 2012. The Record Keeping Plan 
covers all of Polytechnic West’s records, including 
student and general administration and recognises 
the importance of appropriate and contemporary 
record keeping practices relating to records in any 
form.

Essential corporate records and student files were 
converted to a digital form in 2014 in preparation 
for the upgrade of the electronic data management 
system in 2015 which will improve compliance and 
service delivery.

 
EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS AND  
HUMAN RESOURCES 

Staff Profile
The Summary of Employees is based on head count 
for non-casual as at  31 December 2013 and 2014.

Staff Category 2013 2014
Number of permanent,  
contract staff

1093 1007

Number of casual staff 621 499

The Human Resource and Workplace Relations 
Directorate undertook the following tasks to ensure 
that Polytechnic West remains an employer of choice 
for prospective applicants and existing employees:

• Continued to work with the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development to develop and 
implement strategic employment initiatives across 
the sector

• Effectively dealt with structural workplace change
• Maintained and expanded reporting processes to 

ensure greater accountability and transparency
•  Commenced the consultation process to develop 

and implement the 2015-2017 Polytechnic West 
Workforce Plan

• Continued the process of ensuring inclusive 
employment outcomes are achieved across the 
organisation.

DISCLOSURES AND  
LEGAL COMPLIANCE
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH INJURY 
MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION AND INJURY 
MANAGEMENT ACT 1981

Polytechnic West supports and promotes the 
injury management requirements of the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. 
The appointment of a dedicated Injury Management 
Coordinator in 2013 ensured a more focused 
management of workers’ compensation cases with a 
goal of returning injured workers to the workplace as 
quickly as possible.

In managing claims, Polytechnic West used a 
number of rehabilitation and return to work strategies 
to ensure that injured staff members were provided 
with every opportunity to return to their pre-injury role. 
Polytechnic West employees worked closely with 
RiskCover to minimise claims. 

CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR OFFICERS

In accordance with the requirements of the Department 
of Finance on disclosure of senior officers:

• Senior officers did not have any shareholding in 
Polytechnic West

• To the best of Polytechnic West’s knowledge, 
senior officers did not have any interest in contracts 
made or proposed with Polytechnic West

• No personal interests were declared by staff and 
their immediate families in tender evaluation 
panels.

INSURANCE PREMIUMS PAID TO INDEMNIFY 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Polytechnic West has paid $9,731.20 for Directors’ and 
Officers’ Liability Insurance to indemnify any Director 
(as defined in Part 3 of the Statutory Corporations 
(Liability of Directors) Act 1996) against a liability 
incurred under Sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory 
Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996.

EXPENDITURE ON ADVERTISING, MARKET 
RESEARCH, POLING AND DIRECT MAIL 

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral 
Act 1907, Polytechnic West incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, 
direct mail and media advertising. Total expenditure 
for 2014 was $253,517.

Agencies
NIL

Advertising/PR
Carat WA  130,027
Digital Advertising 42,144
Publications / Promotional Materials 66,443
AdCorp - General  
(Tenders/Public Notices)

14,903

Market Research Organisations
NIL

Polling Organisations
NIL

Direct Mail Organisations
NIL

Media Advertising Organisations
NIL

TOTAL 253,517

 

COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS 
AND ETHICAL CODES 
There was one application lodged in relation to 
breaches of the Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management in 2014. This claim was made 
against the Recruitment Standard and was withdrawn 
by the applicant. Polytechnic West continues to 
work cooperatively with all parties in support of 
the Standards to ensure that the organisation 
demonstrates exemplary recruitment practice at all 
time.

The Polytechnic West Code of Professional Conduct 
continues to be actively promoted through Polytechnic 
West’s intranet site and by the Human Resources 
Directorate.  This is managed through presentations 
to staff at both induction and via ongoing professional 
development presentations for existing staff. The 
Code of Conduct summary cards and posters to 
promote this Code were renewed and distributed 
across the organisation in early 2014.
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COMPLIANCE WITH WRITTEN LAWS 

In the performance of its function, Polytechnic 
West exercised controls that provided reasonable 
assurance that it complied with the following relevant 
written laws:

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Act 2005
•  Archives Act 1983
• Building and Construction Industry    

Training Fund and Levy Collection Act 1990
• Classification (Publications, Films and Computer 

Games) Enforcements Act 1996
• Copyright Act 1968
• Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops)    

Agreements Act 1985
• Competition and Consumer Act 2010
• Commonwealth Electoral Act 1918
• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
• Criminal Code Act 1995
• Disability Discrimination Act 1992
• Disability Services Act 1993
• Education Services for Overseas Students   

Act 2000
• Education Service Providers   

(full-fee overseas students) Registration Act 2009
• Education Act 1928
• Electoral Act 1907
• Employment Dispute Resolution Act 2008
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Evidence Act 1995
• Fair Work (Registered Organisations) Act 2009
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Freedom of Information Act 1982
• Government Employees Superannuation Act  

1987
• Higher Education Support Act 2003
• Immigration (Education) Act 1971
• Immigration (Education) Charge Act 1992
• Income Tax Assessment Act 1997
• Industrial Relations and other Legislation   

Amendment Act 1995
• Limitation Act 2005
• Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
• Privacy Act 1988
• Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Public Sector Management Act 1994

• Public Sector Code of Ethics
• Spam Act 2003
• State Records Act 2000
• State Supply Commission Act 1991
• Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency 

Act 2011
• Vocational Education and Training Act 1996  
• Workers Compensation and Injury  

Management Act 1981
• Working with Children (Criminal Record    

Checking) Act 2004

Robert Rubery won the 2014 Beazley Medal (VET).
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DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN

As required under the Disability Services Act 1993 (amended 2004), Polytechnic West implemented the 
revised Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) in 2013. Outlined below are initiatives to address the 
agency outcomes to ensure that Polytechnic West’s services, facilities and information are accessible and 
inclusive. 

OUTCOME 1 People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, 
and any events organised by, Polytechnic West.

• The DAIP Steering Committee included a student with disability amongst its membership in 2014.
• The principles and objectives of the DAIP were incorporated in Polytechnic West’s Strategic Plan and 

Disability Services Business Plan.
• Contractors providing services on behalf of Polytechnic West were given information about Polytechnic 

West’s DAIP.
• Polytechnic West’s Access, Equity and Diversity Policy was reviewed and updated.
• Disability Services staff attended Ethnic Disability Access Committee meetings to better service people 

with disability from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.
• Polytechnic West provides flexible enrolment times for better access for people from diverse backgrounds.
• Disability Services Unit promoted Polytechnic West training and education, and specialised support 

services available, to people with disability through the SkillsWest Expo and Abilities Expo.
OUTCOME 2 People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access buildings and 

facilities of Polytechnic West.
• Polytechnic West campus management applies the Disability (Access to Premises – Buildings) Standards 

2010 to ensure access to buildings and facilities on our campuses.
• Campus management is represented on the DAIP Steering Committee and provides regular updates on 

building and facilities access.
• Additional mechanisms to seek feedback from people with disability on access to buildings and facilities 

have been explored by the DAIP Steering Committee in 2014.
OUTCOME 3 People with disability receive information from Polytechnic West in a format that will enable 

them to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.
• Information and learning materials have been made available in alternative formats for people with 

disability, and Auslan interpreting services provided to prospective and enrolled students from the Deaf 
community.

• Polytechnic West has continued to apply W3C accessibility guidelines when developing its websites and 
online materials.

• Polytechnic West Disability Services Unit acquired additional resources for students to access study 
material in alternative format, using text to speech software and other assistive technology.

• Polytechnic West offers customised training and support for people with disability through the Certificate 
in Gaining Access to Training and Education.

OUTCOME 4  People with disability receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of Polytechnic 
West as other people receive from the staff of the organisation.

• Polytechnic West’s Disability Services Unit consults with students with disability, and prospective students, 
and arranges individualised adjustments and support.

• Disability Services Unit ran workshops for Customer Service Centres, across campuses, which included 
information on collecting sensitive personal information and inclusive customer service practices.

• Students were provided with information about Polytechnic West’s specialised support services, through 
flyers at enrolment, outreach letters and presentations by Disability Services Unit at student orientations.

• Polytechnic West’s Disability Services Unit provides expertise and advice to staff to support people with 
disability and facilitate access and participation in Polytechnic West education and training services.
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OUTCOME 5 People with disability have the same opportunities as others to make complaints to  
 Polytechnic West.

• People with disability have the opportunity to discuss concerns or grievances with Disability Services 
Unit’s Student Support Advisors, in a confidential setting, and receive assistance with taking steps to 
resolve the issue/s.

• Formal  feedback  can  be  given  and  complaints  made  using  Polytechnic West’s  complaints 
management system, in hardcopy or online.

• Tailored assistance from Student Support Advisors is available to people with disability to ensure that 
there is opportunity to make a formal complaint through alternative accessible means.

OUTCOME 6 People with disability have the same opportunities as others to participate in any public      
consultation by Polytechnic West.

• Students with disability have the opportunity and are encouraged to complete the Student Satisfaction 
Survey.

• Disability Services Unit engages with agencies that support people with disability, on training and 
education matters.

OUTCOME 7 People with disability have improved access to employment opportunities for people with 
disability within Polytechnic West.

• Polytechnic West’s Inclusive and Disability Employment Action Sub-Committee has continued to guide 
Polytechnic West with actions to increase the recruitment and retention of employees with disability. 

• Polytechnic West advertised positions encourage people with disability to apply.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
MANAGEMENT
(EQUAL OPPORTUNITY ACT 1984 SECTION 146)

In order to comply with the human resource minimum 
obligatory information requirements for the Public 
Sector Commission, Polytechnic West compiles 
information for the equal employment opportunity 
public sector yearly report. The data collected is 
primarily related to:

• People of culturally diverse backgrounds
• Aboriginal Australians
• People with disabilities
• Management profile
• Age within the workforce
• Employee gender.  

Polytechnic West actively promotes a workplace 
free of discrimination and has taken significant steps 
throughout 2014 to ensure compliance with this 
legislation.

The statistics relating to employment diversity are 
tabled at Polytechnic West’s corporate executive on a 
monthly basis. Polytechnic West is working to create 
a workforce that matches the diversity in the Western 
Australian community and in particular by deploying 
employment practices, as well as promoting a 
work environment, that is inclusive and free from 
discrimination in accordance with its obligations 
under Part IX of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY, HEALTH AND INJURY 
MANAGEMENT

Polytechnic West is committed to promoting a 
safe workplace that adheres to, and promotes, 
the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. 
Polytechnic West, as far as practicable, will provide 
for the safety and health at work of all its employees 
and others affected by the delivery of its services at all 
its workplaces. Polytechnic West’s senior managers 
and line managers are responsible for verifying that 
the Code of Practice on Occupational Safety and 
Health in the Western Australian Public Sector 2007 
is adopted and implemented.

FORMAL MECHANISM FOR CONSULTATION 
WITH EMPLOYEES ON OSH AND INJURY 
MANAGEMENT MATTERS 

Polytechnic West supports the formation of safety 
and health committees across Polytechnic West. 
In 2014, six committees represented the campus 
level. They were made up of 80 elected safety and 
health representatives as well as management 
representatives. The committees meet bimonthly to 
address local issues, review incident/hazard reports 
and reported accidents.

Polytechnic West supports occupational safety and 
health representatives and the role they undertake; 
all occupational safety and health representatives 
are provided the five day mandatory training and are 
registered with WorkSafe WA.

Polytechnic West also has an Occupational Safety 
and Health Standing Committee chaired by the 
General Manager – Resources and Corporate 
Services. This committee ensures matters unable 
to be addressed at local committee level are given 
appropriate attention as well as endorsing safety 
related policies.

To facilitate consultation on injury management 
matters, Polytechnic West has trained staff within the 
Human Resources directorate to provide information 
and assistance. 

ASSESSMENT OF POLYTECHNIC WEST’S 
OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Further to being a finalist for a Work Safety award in 
2013, Polytechnic West has committed to maintaining 
a high level of safety within the work environment. 

A robust system of safety committees at both the 
worksite and senior management level exists across the 
organisation to ensure safety outcomes are achieved.

POLYTECHNIC WEST OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY 
AND HEALTH REPRESENTATIVES

Polytechnic West has 80 elected OSH representatives 
spread across various sites. OSH representatives are 
provided with professionally recognised five day OSH 
representative training and registered with WorkSafe WA. 

All OSH representatives are involved in workplace 
inspections, attending committee meetings and 
assisting with incident investigation, thereby forming 
an integral role in maintaining a safe workplace within 
Polytechnic West.

GOVERNMENT POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS
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MEASURE ACTUAL RESULTS RESULTS AGAINST TARGETS
2013 2014 Target Comment on 

Result
Number of fatalities 0 0 Zero (0) Target achieved
Lost time injury (LTI) and/or 
disease incidence rate (No of 
lost time injuries divided by 
FTE x 100)

0.37 1.05 Zero (0) or 10% 
reduction on the 
previous year

10 LTI in 2014 
an increase from 
4 LTI in 2013. 
See note below.

Lost time injury severity rate 
(No of severe injuries (60 days 
absence or more) divided by 
the No of LTIs x 100)

0 40 (comprising 
4 long term 
absences due to 
injury)

Zero (0) or 10% 
reduction on the 
previous year

4 LTI cases 
subject to 
extended 
recuperation 
leave.  
See note below.

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work within (i) 13 
weeks and (ii) 26 weeks

(i) 100%

(ii) 100%

(i) 60%

(ii) 100%

Greater than or 
equal to 80% 
return to work 
within 26 weeks

Target achieved 
for 26 week 
return to work. 
See note below 
for 13 week 
return target.

Percentage of managers 
and supervisors trained in 
occupational safety, health 
and injury management 
responsibilities

80% 90% Greater than or 
equal to 80%

Target achieved. 
Specific training 
for managers 
continues to be 
provided.

Note Throughout 2014 there were a small number of workers compensation cases whereby medical clearance to return to work was not 
immediately forthcoming. Accordingly, return to work and lost time injury severity rates were detrimentally affected by a small number of 
lengthy claims.

 Polytechnic West has a dedicated safety and workers’ compensation function which ensures that safety outcomes are achieved, and that 
any injuries are managed to ensure the most appropriate return to work strategy is implemented as soon as is practicably possible.

 Training in workplace safety, and the effective management of workers compensation matters by management is an ongoing priority.
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CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
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DESIRED OUTCOME 

The provision of vocational education and training services to meet community and industry training needs.

EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS

The effectiveness indicators measure the achievement of vocational education and training in meeting 
community and industry needs via student and graduate satisfaction, labour force status of graduates and 
profile achievement.

Student Satisfaction Survey
The Student Satisfaction Survey is administered annually on the behalf of the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development by Patterson Research Group. The key focus is to attain an understanding of the 
students training requirements and measure the quality of the delivery of training and services provided by 
Polytechnic West. The survey used a mass market mail out to a random sample of Polytechnic West students 
who were enrolled in either the first or second semester of 2014.  Options were also provided for students to 
complete the survey either on-line, or through the use of computer assisted telephone interviewing.

KPI 1 – Student Satisfaction
The overall student satisfaction rating is obtained from the 2014 Student Satisfaction Survey and measures 
the extent to which students were satisfied with the training they received from Polytechnic West.  The 
measure represents the proportion of ‘satisfied’ and ‘very satisfied’ (on a five point scale) responses received 
from students responding to the question “Overall how satisfied were you with your course?” 

Table 1 – Overall Student Satisfaction
2010 Actual 2011 Actual 2012 Actual 2013 Actual 2014 Target 2014 Actual Target 

Variance

Polytechnic 
West

85% 88% 86% 86% 86%-90% 87% 0%

Western 
Australia

86% 88% 86% 86% n/a 87% n/a

Source  Department of Training and Workforce Development, 2014 Student Satisfaction Survey. 

Notes A new statistical weighting system is used for the survey results as of 2012 and this has been carried through to 2014. The old weighting 
was applied to Industry Groups, which sometimes means that large multipliers are applied to small groups of students.  The new weighting 
method uses the students’ age, gender and training provider to weight the data to representative proportions.

 All figures in Table 1 show the results using the new statistical weighting system. 

 Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole percentage.

In 2014, of the 15,293 Polytechnic West students contacted, there were 2,405 usable returns, representing a 
response rate of 15.72%. Polytechnic West’s standard error for 2014 was 0.6%, with a relative sampling error 
of +/- 1.2% at the 95% level of confidence. 

The overall, student satisfaction at Polytechnic West remains high, with 87% of respondents claiming to be 
either satisfied or very satisfied. The level of satisfaction achieved in 2014 was slightly higher than the results 
achieved (86%) in 2013.  

AUDITED KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS AND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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Student Outcomes Survey
The Student Outcomes Survey is conducted on behalf of the National Centre for Vocational Education 
Research (NCVER) by the Social Research Centre. The survey measures vocational education and training 
students’ employment levels, further study and opinions on the training undertaken. Since 2005, organisational 
level data has been collected every second year, therefore the latest graduate achievement and destination 
information for Polytechnic West relates to the 2013 Student Outcomes Survey.

In 2013, questionnaires were sent to a stratified (field of education, sex and age), randomly selected sample 
of Polytechnic West graduates, who had successfully completed a qualification in the previous year (2012). 
In 2013, 1,028 Polytechnic West graduates responded to the Student Outcomes Survey, representing a 
response rate of 40.4% which is 1.5% lower than the national response rate (41.9%). Polytechnic West is 
unable to provide data for 2012 or 2014 as statistically valid institute level survey data was not collected by 
NCVER for those years.

KPI 2 - Graduate Achievement
Graduate achievement is a question in the Student Outcomes Survey and measures the extent to which 
Polytechnic West Graduates have wholly or partly achieved their main reason for undertaking their course.  
The measure shows the proportion of graduates who indicated they had fully achieved or partly achieved 
their main reason for doing the training.  The question has four response options ‘Yes’, ‘No’, ‘Partly’ or ‘Don’t 
know yet’. 

Table 2 – Graduate Achievement
2007 Actual 2009 Actual 2011 Actual 2013 Target 2013 Actual

Polytechnic West 88% 89% 89% 86%-90% 88%
Western Australia 87% 88% 88% n/a 86%
Australia 86% 86% 86% n/a 84%

Source Student Outcomes Survey was conducted by the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER).

Notes Organisation level data is collected in alternate years commencing 2005.  Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole percentage.

In 2013, 1,028 graduates responded to the graduate achievement question in the Student Outcomes Survey 
representing a sample with a standard error of ± 2.0% at the 95% confidence level. The result could indicate 
that the organisation achieved the 2013 target and was 2% higher than Western Australia’s achievement level 
of 86% and 4% higher than the national figure for Australia. Polytechnic West was unable to provide data for 
2014 as statistically valid institute level survey data was not collected by NCVER for that year.
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KPI 3 - Graduate Destination
Graduate destination data is also taken from the Student Outcomes Survey and measures the proportion of 
graduates in employment.  This measure shows the extent to which the organisation is providing relevant, 
quality training that enhances student employability.  Graduate employment status measures who was 
employed, unemployed or not in the labour force, and was obtained by calculating the graduates in each 
category compared to the total valid responses over the total responses and expressed as a percentage.

Table 3 – Graduate Employment Outcomes 
2007
Actual

2009
Actual

2011
Actual

2013
Target

2013
Actual

Target
Variance

Graduates Employed 
Polytechnic West 83% 79% 78% 75%-80% 79% 0%
Western Australia 83% 79% 80% n/a 80% n/a
Australia 80% 78% 79% n/a 77% n/a

Graduates  Unemployed
Polytechnic West 9% 11% 12% <10% 12% +2%
Western Australia 6% 10% 10% n/a 11% n/a
Australia 9% 11% 11% n/a 13% n/a

Graduates Not in Labour Force
Polytechnic West 8% 10% 11% <10% 9% 0%
Western Australia 11% 11% 10% n/a 9% n/a
Australia 10% 10% 10% n/a 10% n/a

Source Student Outcomes Survey was conducted by the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER).

Notes Organisation level data is only produced in alternate years which commenced in 2005.

 Graduates classified as ‘unemployed’ refer to students seeking full-time or part-time employment and may include graduates who have 
re-enrolled into higher and further education. Unemployed graduates are calculated from the total valid responses less employed graduates 
and graduates who are not in the labour force. 

 Graduates classified as ‘not in the labour force’ identified that they were not currently seeking employment, and may include graduates who 
have re-enrolled into higher and further education.

 Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole percentage.

In 2013, 1028 graduates responded to the Graduate Destination question in the Student Outcomes Survey 
representing a sample with a standard error of ± 2.6% at the 95% confidence level.  The 2013 Polytechnic 
West results show a 1% increase in employed graduates, no change in unemployed graduates and 2% 
decrease in graduates not being in the labour force as compared to 2011. The reason why 2013 shows these 
small changes were probably due to changes in the unemployment rate, market economics and financial 
trends. Polytechnic West is unable to provide data for 2014 as statistically valid institute level survey data was 
not collected by NCVER for that year. 

KPI 4 - Achievement of profile delivery (by Industry Group)
This achievement of profile delivery indicator reports the effectiveness of Polytechnic West in meeting its 
Delivery and Performance Agreement targets. The delivery profile is negotiated directly with the Department 
of Training and Workforce Development and constitutes Polytechnic West’s profile funded training plan. The 
delivery profile takes into consideration government priorities, the needs of individuals, industry and the local 
community and is based on the original negotiated Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA).

The delivery profile is documented in the form of a planning matrix by industry groups. These aspects reflect 
the range and depth of Polytechnic West’s delivery in vocational education and training. The following tables 
below shows the organisation’s planned SCH delivery in each of these areas and the corresponding actual 
SCH delivery for 2014 and indicates the proportion of SCH achieved.
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Table 4 – Achievement of Profile Delivery (DPA) by Industry Groups
Industry Description 2014 Census 

Actual
2014 Target 

Planned
2014 Target 
Achievement

01A Recreation Sports and Entertainment 57,970 68,330 84.8%
01B Visual and Performing Arts 18,740 18,200 103.0%
01C Design 0 2,000 0.0%
02A Automotive 723,755 731,200 99.0%
03A Building and Constructions 589,243 671,972 87.7%
03B Surveying and Building 30,418 25,352 120.0%
04A Community Service Workers 144,375 154,489 93.5%
04B Education and Childcare 445,007 434,703 102.4%
04C Health 74,227 90,911 81.6%
05A Finance Insurance Property Service Workers 17,905 32,900 54.4%
06A Food Trades and Processing 126,220 175,222 72.0%
07A Clothing Footwear and Soft Furnishings 110,080 115,380 95.4%
07B Furniture Manufacture 158,066 178,238 88.7%
09A Engineering and Drafting 299,026 226,064 132.3%
09B Metal and Mining 897,283 1,002,769 89.5%
10A Animal Care 174,618 146,417 119.3%
10B Forestry, Farming and Landcare 18,171 48,872 37.2%
10D Horticulture 28,566 24,128 118.4%
11A Process Manufacturing 6,116 7,600 80.5%
12A Personal Service 49,605 48,160 103.0%
12B Retail 0 639 0.0%
13A Cooking 134,118 181,124 74.0%
13B Hospitality 86,640 92,054 94.1%
13C Tourism 19,180 22,300 86.0%
14A Transport Trades, Storage and Associated 68,193 62,146 109.7%
15A Electrical and Electronic Engineering 75,798 86,694 87.4%
15B Electrical Trades 474,464 550,654 86.2%
16A Accounting and Other Business Services 117,765 82,950 142.0%
16B Management 105,575 189,098 55.8%
16C Office and Clerical 137,065 122,627 111.8%
17A Computing 327,755 317,560 103.2%
18A Science  and Technical Workers 66,040 89,000 74.2%
19B Adult Literacy/ESL 905,365 950,927 95.2%
19C Languages 2,400 3,655 65.7%
19E Targeted Access and Participation Courses 39,260 64,681 60.7%
 Totals 6,529,009 7,019,016 93.0%

Source Polytechnic West’s profile target is sourced from the original Delivery and Performance Agreement negotiated with the Department of 
Training and Workforce Development issued during the previous year. In 2013 the actual SCH was calculated using the End of Study based 
reporting methodology (enrolments ending in the collection year) in line with the Federal and State “National Training Agreement (NTA),” 
formerly the “Skilling Australia’s Workforce (SAW) Agreement.

A key change in the Delivery Performance Agreement is an amended reporting framework according to 
ANZSCO groups, in line with national AVETMISS reporting standards. Polytechnic West will report  
achievement of profile delivery according to ANZSCO groups from 2015. 
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Table 5 – Profile Achievement (DPA)
  

Actual 
Achievement 

2010

Actual 
Achievement 

2011

Actual 
Achievement 

2012

Actual 
Achievement 

2013

Actual 
Achievement 

2014
Profile 
Achievement %

105.7% 102.4% 99.9% 104.2% 93.0%

Source Performance reporting is based on Polytechnic West’s target DPA achievement which refers to the original DPA SCH target issued during the 
previous year.

The profile delivered at Polytechnic West was below the original planned target by 490,007 SCH giving an 
overall achievement of 93.0%. 

The introduction of Future Skills WA, Western Australia’s Entitlement Model, has realigned the level of 
government training subsidy to the occupational priority classification of a particular course, with higher 
priority courses receiving a higher training subsidy than lower priority courses, resulting in changed patterns 
of demand in 2014 compared to 2013.

In 2014 the delivery areas that were significantly above target (above 10,000 SCH) were: Education and 
Childcare, Animal Care, Engineering and Drafting, Accounting and Business Services, Office and Clerical, 
and Computing. 

The delivery areas that were significantly below target (below 10,000 SCH) were: Recreation Sports and 
Entertainment, Building and Construction, Community Service Workers, Health, Finance Insurance and 
Property Service Workers, Food Trades and Processing, Furniture Making, Metal and Mining, Forestry, 
Farming and Landcare, Cooking, Electrical and Electronic Engineering, Electrical Trades, Management, 
Science and Technical, Adult Literacy and certain Targeted Access and Participation Courses.

In line with the State Government’s efficiency dividend measures Polytechnic West renegotiated its Delivery 
and Performance Agreement (DPA) with the Department of Training and Workforce Development through the 
September Addendum and subsequently reduced its profile to 6,960,000 SCH to meet anticipated reductions 
in student demands.

 
EFFICIENCY INDICATOR

KPI 5 - Delivery Cost per Student Curriculum Hour (SCH)
The overall cost per SCH demonstrates the efficiency with which Polytechnic West manages its resources 
to enable the provision of vocational education and training programs.  The overall cost per SCH shows the 
aggregate unit cost of delivery output per SCH, based on the delivery costs (total cost of services) as detailed 
in the 2014 Financial Statements.

Table 7 – Delivery Cost per SCH
 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Target Cost per SCH $13.13 $14.58 $14.89 $15.64 $15.78
Actual Cost per SCH $13.75 $14.14 $15.30 $13.10 $13.34
Annual Percentage Change +8.0% +2.8% +8.2% -14.4% +1.8%

Note The total delivery cost per SCH is calculated by dividing the total cost of services as defined in the 2014 Financial Statement by the total 
SCH delivered including profile and non-profile delivery.

The 2014 actual unit cost of delivery is marginally higher than the corresponding result for 2013, but is well 
below the 2014 delivery cost per SCH target. 

A substantial portion of delivery at Polytechnic West is diverse with a high trade/workshop component. The 
average cost of delivery varies each year due to a number of factors, including the volume and mix of delivery, 
class size, student and market demands, quantum of trade/workshop delivery levels, consumable costs, etc.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2014 2013
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Notes  $  $ 
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6  94,995,867  99,796,751 
Supplies and services 7  22,130,346  23,382,265 
Depreciation expense 8  5,229,012  5,477,577 
Grants and subsidies 9  416,355  470,833 
Cost of sales 14  646,232  992,791 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 18  80,156  -   
Other expenses 10  9,112,927  8,588,715 
Total cost of services  132,610,895  138,708,932 

Income
Revenue
Fee for service 11  23,180,494  23,597,838 
Student fees and charges 12  17,586,748  11,699,366 
Ancillary trading 13  980,294  1,040,370 
Sales 14  870,620  1,375,058 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 15  10,000  -   
Interest revenue 16  955,818  607,332 
Other revenue 17  2,265,017  1,968,511 
Total revenue  45,848,991  40,288,475 

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 18  -    10,040 
Total gains  -    10,040 

Total income other than income from State 
Government

 45,848,991  40,298,515 

NET COST OF SERVICES     86,761,904  98,410,417 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 19
Service appropriation  89,494,057  97,421,269 
Services received free of charge  2,127,380  2,106,666 
Total income from State Government  91,621,437  99,527,935 

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  4,859,533  1,117,518 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 30  7,770,604  2,200,065 
Total other comprehensive income  7,770,604  2,200,065 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  12,630,137  3,317,583 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 2014 2013
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

Notes  $  $ 
ASSETS
Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 31  24,640,106  8,399,908 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20,31        1,491,467  4,610,572 
Inventories 21  59,693  430,471 
Receivables 22  3,025,735  3,973,023 
Other current assets 23  1,325,030  1,157,607 
Total Current Assets  30,542,031  18,571,581 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 24  195,378,392  189,366,515 
Total Non-Current Assets  195,378,392  189,366,515 

TOTAL ASSETS  225,920,423  207,938,096 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 27  3,052,183  3,908,110 
Provisions 28  16,587,225  16,742,728 
Other current liabilities 29  7,679,483  1,028,639 

Total Current Liabilities  27,318,891  21,679,477 

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 28  4,055,305  4,513,542 
Other non-current liabilities 29  -    1,500,000 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  4,055,305  6,013,542 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  31,374,196  27,693,019 

NET ASSETS  194,546,227  180,245,077 

EQUITY 30
Contributed equity  69,748,249  68,077,236 
Reserves  125,560,377  117,789,773 
Accumulated deficit  (762,399)  (5,621,932)

TOTAL  EQUITY  194,546,227  180,245,077 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Contributed 
Equity

Reserves Accumulated 
Surplus/
Deficit

Total Equity

Notes $ $ $ $
Balance at 1 January 2013 30  65,592,370  115,589,708  (6,739,450)  174,442,628 

  Surplus/(deficit)  -    -    1,117,518  1,117,518 
  Other comprehensive income  -    2,200,065  -    2,200,065 
Total comprehensive income for 
the period  -    2,200,065  1,117,518  3,317,583 

Transaction with owners in their 
capacity as owners:
  Capital appropriations  2,078,065  -    -    2,078,065 
  Other contributions by owners  406,801  -    -    406,801 
Total  2,484,866  -    -    2,484,866 

Balance at 31 December 2013  68,077,236  117,789,773  (5,621,932)  180,245,077 

Balance at 1 January 2014         68,077,236  117,789,773  (5,621,932)  180,245,077 

  Surplus/(deficit)  -    -    4,859,533  4,859,533 
  Other comprehensive income  -    7,770,604  -    7,770,604 
Total comprehensive income for 
the period  -    7,770,604  4,859,533  12,630,137 

Transaction with owners in their 
capacity as owners:
  Other contributions by owners  1,671,013  -    -    1,671,013 
Total  1,671,013  -    -    1,671,013 

Balance at 31 December 2014  69,748,249  125,560,377  (762,399)  194,546,228 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 2014 2013
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Notes  $  $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation - Department of Training and 
Workforce Development

 93,081,061  96,957,342 

Capital appropriation -  Department of Training and 
Workforce Development

 -    2,078,065 

Capital grant -  Department of Training and Workforce 
Development

 1,513,195  -   

Special Purpose Grant - Department of Training and 
Workforce Development

 -    1,500,000 

Royalties for Regions Fund  78,199  406,801 
Net cash provided by State Government  94,672,455  100,942,208 

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits  (96,467,614)  (98,846,628)
Supplies and services  (20,162,133)  (20,801,726)
Grants and subsidies  (416,355)  (470,833)
Cost of goods sold  (249,300)  (831,215)
GST payments on purchases  (2,355,444)  (2,917,105)
Other payments  (9,094,500)  (8,734,434)

Receipts
Fee for service  24,327,816  23,888,743 
Student fees and charges   17,664,188  11,466,663 
Ancillary trading  980,294  1,040,370 
Commonwealth grants and contributions  16,606 
Interest received  912,861  617,197 
GST receipts on sales  1,427,739  1,385,042 
GST receipts from taxation authority  836,472  1,482,535 
Sales  870,620  1,375,058 
Other receipts  2,258,385  1,898,723 
Net cash used in operating activities 31  (79,450,365)  (89,447,610)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets  (2,112,077)  (5,869,961)
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  11,080  17,663 
Net cash used in investing activities  (2,100,997)  (5,852,298)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  13,121,093  5,642,300 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  13,010,480  7,368,180 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
PERIOD

31  26,131,573  13,010,480 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

1. Australian Accounting Standards
(a) General 

The Institute’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Institute has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates.

(b) Early adoption of standards

The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s 
Instruction (TI) 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. There 
has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not 
operative) by the Institute for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2014.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. Unless 
otherwise stated, these policies are consistent with those adopted in the previous year.

(a) General statement 

The Institute is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these 
are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern 
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention, except for land and buildings which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($). 

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have 
been made in the process of applying the Institute’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect 
on amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material  adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c)  Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Institute and bodies included at note 39 ‘Related bodies’.



51

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions  by owners (at the time of, 
or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations 
have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned 
Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal. See note 30 ‘Equity’.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition  
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

The majority of operating revenue of the Institute represents revenue earned from student fees and charges, 
fee for service, ancillary services, trading activities and Commonwealth grants and contributions.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Institute obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Institute obtains 
control over the funds. The Institute obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the 
Institute’s bank account.

Service appropriations 

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Institute gains 
control of the appropriated funds The Institute gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are 
deposited to the bank account. 

State funds

The funds received from the Department of Training and Workforce Development in respect of the delivery 
of services forming part of the Delivery Performance Agreement are included in State funds, disclosed under 
‘Income from State Government’. They are the result of training successfully tendered for under competitive 
tendering arrangements. This revenue is recognised at nominal value in the period in which the Institute 
meets the terms of the Agreement. See note 19 ‘Income from State Government’.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the 
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Where applicable in accordance with TI 
1101, the capitalisation threshold has been applied to the aggregate value of a group or network of assets 
where the cost of individual item may be below the threshold but collectively the cost of the items in the 
group or network exceeds the threshold. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of 
a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value 
at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and 
buildings and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair 
value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses.

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 
current market values determined by reference to recent market transactions.  When buildings are revalued 
by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of 
existing use.  This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted.  Fair value 
for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is 
determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated 
depreciation are restated proportionately. . Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison 
with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of 
comparable unrestricted land. (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Institute 
(Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 
from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to 
apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life.

Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction 
between market type assets and existing use assets. Refer to note 24 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for 
further information on revaluations.

De-recognition

Upon disposal or de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating 
to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Asset revaluation surplus

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current 
assets as described in note 24 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.

Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 20 to 40 years
Transportables 20 to 40 years
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 1 to 25 years
Plant, furniture and general equipment 1 to 30 years
Computing, communications and software (a) 1 to 14 years
 (a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

Works of art controlled by the Institute are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated 
to have indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during 
the reporting period and so no depreciation has been recognised. 

Land is not depreciated.  

Library Collection

In 2014, the Institute recognised the Library Collection as a grouped asset from 31 December 2013. Purchases 
during the first year (2013) will be 100% depreciated in 31 December 2018 and derecognised in 31 December 
2020 and each year subsequently treated, in accordance with the ‘rolling depreciation’ methodology adopted 
(see note 24).

Artworks

A valuation of the Institute’s artworks was carried out in 2014 with the collection subsequently capitalised. 
(see note 24).

(g) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.   Where an asset measured 
at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Where a 
previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Institute is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset 
has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk 
from falling replacement costs. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at 
fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at 
risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications 
of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

See note 26 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.  See note 2(n) 
‘Receivables’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.

(h) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position.  
Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

(i) Leases

The Institute has entered into operating lease arrangements for buildings, motor vehicles and multi-function 
devices. Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived.

(j) Financial instruments

The Institute has two categories of financial instruments:

Financial assets

• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
Financial liabilities
• Payables
• Other Liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the 
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there 
is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not 
material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include restricted cash and cash 
equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 

(l) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries (see note 27 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the 
financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Institute considers 
the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 20 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of 
amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of ten financial years to largely meet the 
additional cash outlay in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is 
received on this account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

(m)  Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned by the method 
most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a first in first out 
basis.

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they 
are measured at net realisable value.

See note 21 ‘Inventories’.

(n)  Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. 
impairment).  The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified 
as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Institute will not be able to collect the 
debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  See note 2(j) 
‘Financial instruments’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’.

(o)  Payables

Payables are recognised when the Institute becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally 
within 30 days.  See note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 27 ‘Payables’.

(p)  Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See note 28 ‘Provisions’. 

(i) Provisions - employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Annual leave

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and 
is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised 
and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience 
of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Institute does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave

A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has completed one year of service based on 
remuneration rates current as at the end of the reporting period. 

An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by Price Waterhouse Coopers at 31st December 
2012 determined that the liability measured using the short hand measurement technique was not materially 
different from the liability determined using the present value of expected future payments. This calculation is 
consistent with the Institute’s experience of employee retention and leave taken.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Institute does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.  Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
because the Institute has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service.

Deferred Leave

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement 
to self-fund an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises 
the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same 
basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme 
at their discretion at any time.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility 
criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement 
and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new 
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme 
closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension 
Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). 
Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme 
(GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able 
to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Institute makes contributions to GESB or other 
funds providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Institute’s 
liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme 
or GSS. 

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole of government reporting.  
However, it is a defined contribution plan for Institute purposes because the concurrent contributions 
(defined contributions) made by the Institute to GESB extinguishes the Institute’s obligations to the related 
superannuation liability.

The Institute has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension 
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension 
Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions 
made by the Institute to the GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the 
Treasurer for the employer’s share. See also note 2(q) ‘Superannuation expense’.

(ii) Provisions - other

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  
Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Institute’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. (See note 
10 ‘Other expenses’ and note 28 ‘Provisions’.)
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(q) Superannuation expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions 
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), the GESB Super 
Scheme (GESBS) and other superannuation funds. 

(r) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Institute would otherwise purchase if 
not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably 
measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received.  Receipts of assets are recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income 
from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(s) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the 
current financial year.

3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of 
accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  The 
Institute evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating Lease Commitments

The Institute has entered into a number of commercial leases for buildings and motor vehicles and has 
determined that the lessor retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
the property. Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease. 

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

PWA has used the shorthand method for leave entitlements. An actuarial assessment of long service leave

undertaken by Price Waterhouse Coopers at 31st December 2012 determined that the liability measured 
using the short hand measurement technique was not materially different from the liability determined using 
the present value of expected future payments and may be conducted for two out years. This calculation is 
consistent with PWA’s experience of employee retention and leave taken.

Student receivables under 60 days due are considered collectable and a provision is made for the full value 
of those which are greater.

General receivables from other government agencies are considered risk free (no allowance for doubtful 
debt) and all others are individually assessed, with an allowance to the full value if required.

Inventory stocks (bookshops) are ordered on a just in time basis to match current year teaching requirements.

Obsolescence is considered less than 5% of annual trading purchases and therefore no provision is made. 

A decision was made in 2014 to discontinue bookshop trading from 2015 onwards.

The Institute revalues its land and buildings every year during which time estimates of useful life are provided 
to give guidance on depreciation rates used in intervening years.

No provision has been made for sick leave as the Institute’s annual costs do not exceed the annual value of 
entitlements.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Institute has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 that impacted on the Institute

Int 21 Levies
This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a 
government levy imposed should be recognised.  There is no financial impact for 
the Institute at reporting date.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

(a) The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Institute as 
it does not impact accounting for related bodies and the Institute has no interests 
in other entities.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint 
Ventures, introduces new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement 
that exists, which are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the 
parties to the arrangement.

(b) There is no financial impact for the Institute as the new standard continues to 
require the recognition of the Institute’s share of assets and share of liabilities for 
the unincorporated joint operation.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements 
in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.

There is no financial impact.

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements removing the consolidation requirements of the 
earlier standard whilst retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the 
preparation of separate financial statements.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing 
a number of clarifications for the accounting treatments of changed ownership 
interest.

(c) The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Institute as 
it does not hold investments in associates and joint ventures.
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AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian 
guidance on materiality not available in IFRSs and refers to guidance on 
materiality in other Australian pronouncements.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 
124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance 
of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.  There is no financial impact for 
the Institute.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies 
identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the 
meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some 
gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.  There 
is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 
Assets.

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes.  There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances 
where a derivative, which has been designated as a hedging instrument, is 
novated from one counter party to a central counterparty as a consequence of 
laws or regulations.  The Institute does not routinely enter into derivatives or 
hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation 
Guidance for Not for Profit Entities – Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 
12 & 1049].

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in 
determining whether a not-for-profit entity controls another entity when financial 
returns are not a key attribute of the investor’s relationship.  The Standard has 
no financial impact in its own right, rather the impact results from the adoption of 
the amended AASB 10.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments.

This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the 
deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2014 (Part B).  Part B of the Standard has no financial impact.

Voluntary changes in accounting policy

There have been no significant voluntary changes in accounting policy.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

(d) The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by  
 TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  Consequently,  
 the Institute has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have  
 been issued that may impact the Institute.  Where applicable, the Institute plans to apply these   
 Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2018
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing 
a number of changes to accounting treatments

The mandatory application date of this Standard is 
currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 
2012 6, AASB 2013 9, and, AASB 2014 1 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards.  The Institute has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting 1 Jul 2014
This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures 
in the general purpose financial statements of not for 
profit entities within the General Government Sector. The 
Institute will be required to disclose additional budgetary 
information and explanations of major variances 
between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is 
no financial impact.

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 
10 & 12]

(e) The mandatory application date of this Standard is 
currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 
2012 6 and AASB 2014 1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 
137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as 
a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has 
been amended by AASB 2012 6 and AASB 2014 1 to 1 
January 2018.  The Institute has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards   

Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments.

(f) Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the application 
of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 (Part C).  The application date 
of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 
by AASB 2014 1.  The Institute has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Part A changes consist primarily of clarifications to 
Accounting Standards and have no financial impact for 
the Institute.

1 Jul 2014

Part B has no financial impact as the Institute contributes 
to schemes that are either defined contribution plans, or 
deemed to be defined contribution plans.

1 Jul 2014

Part C has no financial impact as the Standard removes 
references to AASB 1031 Materiality from a number of 
Accounting Standards.

1 Jul 2014

Part D has no financial impact as the Institute is not 
required to apply AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The Institute establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of 
its objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in 
Joint Operations.  Therefore, there is no financial impact 
on application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

(g) The adoption of the new Standard has no financial 
impact for the Institute as depreciation and amortisation 
is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but 
by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

Changes in accounting estimates

No change has occurred in accounting estimates.
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6. Employee benefits expense $ $
 Wages and salaries (a)  86,465,578  91,356,912 
 Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)  8,530,289  8,439,839 

 94,995,867  99,796,751 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, 
leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, and Gold State and GESBS and other eligible 
funds.
Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers' compensation insurance, are included at note 
10 'Other expenses'. 
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 28 'Provisions'.

7.  Supplies and services $ $
 Consumables and minor equipment  4,935,772  4,880,553 
 Communication expenses  514,049  645,742 
 Utilities expenses  2,779,513  2,991,369 
 Consultancies and contracted services  9,893,599  9,559,239 
 Minor works  948,363  1,549,095 
 Repairs and maintenance  185,531  216,992 
 Operating lease and hire charges  1,018,031  1,613,037 
 Travel and passenger transport  90,539  131,603 
 Advertising and public relations  268,879  247,438 
 Supplies and services - other  1,450,381  1,464,285 
  Supplies and Services - PD staff activities    45,689  82,912 

 22,130,346  23,382,265 

8.  Depreciation expense $ $
 Buildings  3,170,248  3,105,809 
 Leasehold improvements - buildings   11,762  35,775 
 Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  83,614  102,540 
 Plant, furniture and general equipment  1,598,153  1,611,629 
 Computer equipment and communication network  365,235  621,824 
 Total depreciation   5,229,012  5,477,577 

9.  Grants and subsidies $ $
 Recurrent 
Payments to non-TAFE providers for VET service 
delivery 

 -    432 

 Apprentices and trainees (travel, accommodation and 
other off-the-job assistance) 

 416,355  470,401 

 416,355  470,833 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2014 2013
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10.  Other expenses $ $
Building maintenance  1,872,976  1,498,086 
Doubtful debts expense  185,312  (22,892)
Employment on-costs  6,674,011  6,845,465 
Donations  2,000  2,000 
Student prizes and awards  14,309  12,856 
Losses and write-offs  143,371  12,692 
Other (a)  220,948  240,508 

 9,112,927  8,588,715 

(a)  Includes Staff Activities of $180,079 in 2014 and $202,603 in 2013.

11.  Fee for service $ $
 Fee for service - General  5,774,820  6,131,684 
 Fee for service - Department of Training and Workforce 
Development 

 -    8,637 

 Fee for service - Government   8,630,226  8,435,605 
 Adult community education fees  232,869  401,044 
 International division fees  6,340,923  6,359,322 
 Fee for service - other  2,201,656  2,261,546 

 23,180,494  23,597,838 

12.  Student fees and charges $ $
 Tuition fees  12,865,961  7,925,527 
 Resource fees  3,503,644  3,472,524 
 Other college fees  590,847  301,315 
 Recognised Prior Learning Fees   369,679  -   
 Incidental Fees  256,617  -   

 17,586,748  11,699,366 

13.  Ancillary trading $ $
 Live works (not a trading activity)  854,764  879,686 
 Contracting and consulting  -    14,982 
 Other ancillary revenue  125,530  145,702 

 980,294  1,040,370 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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14. Trading profit/(loss) $ $

(a) Bookshop:
Sales  841,572  1,339,928 

Cost of sales:
  Opening inventory  (379,776)  (530,105)
  Purchases  (261,411)  (787,298)

 (641,187)  (1,317,403)

  Closing inventory  49,353  379,776 
Cost of goods sold  (591,834)  (937,627)

Trading profit - Bookshop  249,738  402,301 

(b) Other trading
Sales  29,048  35,130 

 -    -   
Cost of sales:
  Opening inventory  (50,695)  (61,942)
  Purchases  (14,043)  (43,917)

 (64,738)  (105,859)

  Closing inventory  10,340  50,695 
Cost of goods sold  (54,398)  (55,164)

Trading loss - Other trading  (25,350)  (20,034)

 224,388  382,267 
See note 2(m) 'Inventories' and note 21 'Inventories'.

15. Commonwealth grants and contributions $ $
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions
Indigenous Trainees  10,000  -   

 10,000  -   

16. Interest revenue $ $
Interest revenue  955,818  607,332 

 955,818  607,332 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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17. Other revenue $ $
Rental and facilities fees  374,866  671,336 
Copyright and royalties revenue  -    6,190 
Sponsorship and donations revenue  299,086  76,475 
Insurance claims  521,526  246,377 
Refunds of prior year revenue (a)  288,568  239,163 
Miscellaneous revenue  780,971  728,970 

 2,265,017  1,968,511 
(a) Includes Riskcover renewal adjustments of $249,905 for 2014 and $179,885 for 2013.

18. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets $ $

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  4,731  3,500 
Plant, furniture and general equipment  6,349  10,438 
Computers and communication network  -    3,725 
Total proceeds from disposal of non-current assets  11,080  17,663 

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  (2,996)  -   
Plant, furniture and general equipment  (82,836)  (5,614)
Computers and communication network  (5,404)  (2,009)
Total cost of disposal of non-current assets  (91,236)  (7,623)

Net gain/(loss)  (80,156)  10,040 

See note 24 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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19. Income from State Government $ $

Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriation  (a) (State funds received from Department of Training and Workforce 
Development):
Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA)  79,324,462  86,968,185 
Superannuation  7,189,520  8,593,420 
Voluntary Severances  1,034,546  1,242,906 
Other recurrent funds  1,945,529  616,758 
Total State funds  89,494,057  97,421,269 

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during the financial period :
Department of Training and Workforce Development
- Corporate systems support  1,641,544  1,472,026 
- Marketing and publications  206,966  219,375 
- Human resources, and industrial relations support  266,550  306,872 
- Other  12,320  108,393 

 2,127,380  2,106,666 

Total income from State Government  91,621,437  99,527,935 

(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered.

20. Restricted cash and cash equivalents $ $
Current
Carryover - Capital works grants received from 
Department of Training and Workforce Development

 1,491,467  1,162,199 

Allocation of cash for the 27th pay  -    3,448,373 
 1,491,467  4,610,572 

21. Inventories $ $

Inventories held for resale:
Bookshop (at cost)  49,353  379,776 
Other (at cost)  10,340  50,695 
Total  59,693  430,471 

See also note 2(m) 'Inventories' and note 14 'Trading profit/(loss)'.
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22. Receivables $ $

Current
Receivables - trade  1,581,725  1,760,661 
Receivables - students  758,142  835,582 
Receivables - other  -    90 
Accrued revenue  1,500,098  2,377,966 
Allowance for impairment of receivables  (995,037)  (1,112,510)
GST receivable  180,807  111,234 
Total current  3,025,735  3,973,023 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of  period  (1,112,510)  (1,533,776)
Doubtful debts expense  (185,311)  22,892 
Amount written off during the period  302,784  398,374 
Balance at end of  period  (995,037)  (1,112,510)

The Institute does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

See also note 2(n) 'Receivables' and note 36 'Financial instruments'. 

23. Other assets $ $

Current
Prepayments  1,325,030  1,157,607 
Total current  1,325,030  1,157,607 
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24. Property, plant and equipment $ $

Land
At fair value (a)  55,570,000  55,320,000 

 55,570,000  55,320,000 
Buildings 
At fair value (a)  133,101,000  123,924,000 
At Cost (b)  101,780  133,712 
Accumulated depreciation  (101,261)  (129,379)

 133,101,519  123,928,333 
Transportables
At cost  -    792,244 
Accumulated depreciation  -    (89,412)

 -    702,832 
Buildings under construction
Construction costs  334,162  1,763,175 

 334,162  1,763,175 
Leasehold improvements
At cost  -    178,877 
Accumulated depreciation  -    (35,775)

 -    143,102 
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 
At cost  1,136,000  1,106,864 
Accumulated depreciation  (780,717)  (734,973)

 355,283  371,891 
Plant,  furniture and general equipment
At cost  13,725,106  13,615,513 
Accumulated depreciation  (8,875,223)  (7,437,822)

 4,849,883  6,177,691 
Leased plant, furniture and general equipment
At capitalised cost  808,755  808,755 
Accumulated depreciation  (808,755)  (808,755)

 -    -   
Computer equipment, communication network
At cost  3,399,485  3,239,243 
Accumulated depreciation  (2,723,215)  (2,497,114)

 676,270  742,129 
Works of art 
At fair value  105,165  35,000 

 105,165  35,000 
Library Collection
At cost  386,110  182,362 

 386,110  182,362 

 195,378,392  189,366,515 
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(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2014 by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services). 
The valuations were performed during the year ended 31 December 2014 and recognised at 
31 December 2014. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to 
market values for land: $ 15,170,000 (2013: $ 15,170,000). For the remaining balance,  fair value 
of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land 
was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high 
restricted use land). See note 2(f) 'Property, plant and equipment'.

(b)  Effective 2014, transportables are stated at fair value and included in buildings.

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 25.

 Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end 
of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

Land Buildings Transportables 
(c)

Buildings 
under 
Construction

Leasehold 
improvements

Motor 
vehicles, 
caravans 
and trailers 

Plant,  
furniture 
and general 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment, 
communication 
network 

Works 
of art 

Library 
Collection 

Total

2014 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Carrying amount 
at start of year

 55,320,000  123,928,333  702,832  1,763,175  143,102  371,891  6,177,691  742,129  35,000  182,362  189,366,515 

Additions  -    -    2,695,985  -    70,001  358,550  301,569  65,165  203,748  3,695,018 

Transfers (a)  -    4,124,998  -    (4,124,998)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Institute re-
classifications (c)

 -    702,832  (702,832)

Other Disposals  -    -    -    -    (2,995)  (88,205)  (2,193)  -    -    (93,393)

Revaluation 
increments/
(decrements)

 250,000  7,515,604  -    -    -    -    -    5,000  -    7,770,604 

Impairment losses 
(b)

  -     -    -    (131,340)  -    (131,340)

Depreciation  -    (3,170,248)  -    (11,762)  (83,614)  (1,598,153)  (365,235)  -    -    (5,229,012)

Carrying amount 
at end of period  55,570,000  133,101,519  -    334,162  0  355,283  4,849,883  676,270  105,165  386,110  195,378,392 

Land Buildings Transportables 
(c)

Buildings 
under 
Construction

Leasehold 
improvements

Motor 
vehicles, 
caravans 
and trailers 

Plant,  
furniture 
and general 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment, 
communication 
network 

Works 
of art 

Library 
Collection 

Total

2013 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Carrying amount 
at start of year

 55,320,000  121,279,524  723,058  493,378  178,877  382,720  7,420,590  948,541  35,000  -    186,781,688 

Additions  -    -    5,056,790  -    95,421  120,776  417,421  -    182,362  5,872,770 

Transfers (a)  -    3,534,327  (3,786,993)  -    -    252,666  -    -    -    -   

Other Disposals  -    -    -    (3,710)  (4,712)  (2,009)  -    -    (10,431)

Revaluation 
increments/
(decrements)

 2,200,065  -    -    -    -    -    -    2,200,065 

Depreciation  -    (3,085,583)  (20,226)  (35,775)  (102,540)  (1,611,629)  (621,824)  -    -    (5,477,577)

Carrying amount 
at end of  period  55,320,000  123,928,333  702,832  1,763,175  143,102  371,891  6,177,691  742,129  35,000  182,362  189,366,515 

(a) The Department of Lands is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to the Department of Lands 
for sale and the Authority accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner. 

(b) Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Where a previously revalued asset is written down  to recoverable amount, the loss 
is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income.     

(c)  Effective 2014, transportables are stated at fair value and included in buildings.      
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25. Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair 
value :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value at 
end of period 

2014  $  $  $  $ 
Land (Note 24)  -    15,170,000  40,400,000  55,570,000 
Buildings (Note 24)  -    -    133,101,000  133,101,000 

 -    15,170,000  173,501,000  188,671,000 

Assets measured at fair 
value :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value at 
end of period 

2013  $  $  $  $ 

Land (Note 24)  -    15,170,000  40,150,000  55,320,000 
Buildings (Note 24)  -    -    123,924,000  123,924,000 

 -    15,170,000  164,074,000  179,244,000 

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
2014 Land Buildings

$ $
Fair Value at start of period  40,150,000  123,924,000 
Additions  -    4,124,998 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or 
Loss

 -    -   

Institute re-classifications  -    702,832 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income

 250,000  7,515,604 

Depreciation Expense  -    (3,166,434)
Fair Value at end of period  40,400,000  133,101,000 

2013 Land Buildings
$ $

Fair Value at start of period  40,150,000  121,269,000 
Additions  -    3,534,327 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

 -    2,200,065 

Depreciation Expense  -    (3,079,392)
Fair Value at end of period  40,150,000  123,924,000 

 

Valuation processes        

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.       
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Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances 
that caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held 
for sale as Treasurer’s instructions require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 
where the valuations utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Fair value for existing use specialised building is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the 
remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated 
replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated 
on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed economic benefit, expired economic benefit or 
obsolescence of the asset. Determination of the current replacement cost of such assets held by the Institute 
is calculated by reference to gross project size specifications and the historical cost, adjusted by relevant 
indices.      

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market evidence of sales of 
comparable land that is unrestricted (low restricted use land), or, comparison with market evidence for land 
with low level utility (high restricted use land). 

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Institute are derived and evaluated as follows:  

Historical cost of building per square metre floor area (m2)       

The costs of construction of specialised buildings are extracted from financial records of the Institute, then 
indexed by movements in construction costs by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services).      

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset 

These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 

Sales prices of appropriate land of low utility        

These are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 

Selection of land with similar approximate utility        

Fair value for land with low level utility (high restricted use) is determined by comparison with market evidence 
for land with similar approximate utility. Relevant comparators of land with similar approximate utility are 
selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).    
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Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description and fair value 
as at 31 December 2014

Valuation 
technique(s)

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
unobservable 
inputs 
(probability 
– weighted 
average) 

Range of 
unobservable 
inputs 
(probability 
– weighted 
average) 

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair value

$ 2014 2013
Land

( $40,400,000 )

Market

approach

Selection 
of land 
with similar 
approximate 
utility

$10.60 - 
$375.31 per 
m2

$10.60 - 
$364.59 per 
m2

Higher value 
of similar land 
increases estimated 
fair value.

($184.96 per 
m2)

($181.50 per 
m2)

Buildings

( $133,101,000 )

Depreciated

Replacement

Cost

Consumed 
economic 
benefit/ 
obsolescence 
of asset

0.63% - 1.21% 
per year

(0.88% per 
year)

0.57% - 1.21% 
per year

(0.88% per 
year)

Greater 
consumption of 
economic benefit 
or increased 
obsolescence 
lowers fair value.

Historical cost 
of building per 
square metre 
floor area (m2)

$634.63 - 
$1,285.42 per 
m2

$560.04 - 
$1,289.91 per 
m2

Higher historical 
cost per m2 
increases fair value.

($1,005.10 per 
m2)

($986.18 per 
m2)

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 24.  

Basis of Valuation        

In the absence of market-based evidence due to the specialised nature of the assets, non-financial assets 
are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises 
that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to 
be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a 
specific community service and the Institute’s enabling legislation.       
 

26. Impairment of assets     
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment or intangible assets at 31 December 
2014.  
  
The Institute held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At 
the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.    
 
All surplus assets as at 31 December 2014 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014



73

27. Payables $ $

Current 
Trade payables  473,411  133,622 
Accrued expenses  905,264  1,398,930 
Accrued salaries and related costs  1,669,790  2,367,844 
Paid parental leave payable  3,718  7,714 
Total current  3,052,183  3,908,110 

See also note 2(o) 'Payables' and note 36  'Financial Instruments'.

28. Provisions $ $

Current
Employee benefits provision
  Annual leave (a)  3,050,858  3,452,287 
  Long service leave (b)  12,460,198  12,242,676 
  Deferred Salary Scheme ( c)  155,029  112,259 

 15,666,085  15,807,222 
Other provisions
  Employment on-costs (d)  921,140  935,506 

 921,140  935,506 
Total current  16,587,225  16,742,728 

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
  Long service leave (b)  3,831,370  4,263,765 

 3,831,370  4,263,765 
Other provisions
  Employment on-costs (d)  223,935  249,777 

 223,935  249,777 
Total non-current  4,055,305  4,513,542 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that 
actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

      Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  2,691,923  2,978,440 
      More than 12 months after  the end of the reporting period  358,935  473,847 

 3,050,858  3,452,287 
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(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right 
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate 
that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

$ $
       Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  6,647,330  5,792,662 
       More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  9,644,240  10,713,779 

 16,291,570  16,506,441 

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement 
of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

$ $
       Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  105,393  14,824 
       More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  49,636  97,435 

 155,029  112,259 

(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 
employment on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. 

The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 
10 'Other expenses'.

Movements in other provisions

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are 
set out below.
Employment on-cost provision $ $
Carrying amount at start of period  1,185,283  1,286,992 
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits  (40,208)  (101,708)
Carrying amount at end of period  1,145,075  1,185,284 
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29. Other liabilities

Current $ $
Income received in advance (a)  666,372  663,627 
Grants and advances - Department of Training and 
Workforce Development (b)

 1,500,000  21,200 

Grants and advances - Special Purpose Commonwealth  9,206  -   
Money/deposits held in trust  362,079  343,812 
Provision for Delivery and Performance Agreement 
Refund

 5,141,826  -   

Total current  7,679,483  1,028,639 

Non-current 
Grants and advances - Department of Training and 
Workforce Development (b)

 -    1,500,000 

Total non-current  -    1,500,000 

(a) Income received in advance comprises:
     Fee for service  666,372  663,627 

 666,372  663,627 

(b) Co-contribution payment from Department of Training and Workforce Development to enable 
the completion of the Balga Plumbing Workshop originally to be repaid to the Department by 
1st February 2015. Written approval has been received from the Department to re-classify this 
amount as aquittable funding, see note 29 Other Liabilities Current above.
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30. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Institute on behalf of the 
community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Institute. The asset 
revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current 
assets.

Contributed equity $ $
Balance at start of period  68,077,236  65,592,370 

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation  -    2,078,065 

Other contributions by owners
Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Infrastructure 
and Headworks Account

 78,199  406,801 

Transfer of net assets from Department of Training and 
Workforce Development

 1,592,814  -   

Total contributions by owners  1,671,013  2,484,866 

Balance at end of period  69,748,249  68,077,236 

Reserves $ $
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period  117,789,773  115,589,708 
Net revaluation increments
 Land  250,000  -   
 Buildings  7,520,604  2,200,065 
Balance at end of period  125,560,377  117,789,773 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 
Balance at start of period  (5,621,932)  (6,739,450)
Result for the period  4,859,533  1,117,518 
Balance at end of period  (762,399)  (5,621,932)

Total Equity at end of period  194,546,227  180,245,077 
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31. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows $ $

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to 
the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  6,487,309  5,200,308 
Short term deposits  18,152,797  3,199,600 

 24,640,106  8,399,908 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 20 
'Restricted cash and cash equivalents')

 1,491,467  4,610,572 

 26,131,573  13,010,480 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating 
activities

Net cost of services  (86,761,904)  (98,410,417)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation expense (note 8 'Depreciation expense)  5,229,012  5,477,577 
Doubtful debts expense (note 10 ‘Other expenses’)  (117,473)  (22,892)
Resources received free of charge (note 19 ‘Income 
from State Government’) 

 2,127,380  2,106,666 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant  and equipment 
(note 18 ‘Net gain/(loss) on sale of non-current assets’)

 80,156  (10,040)

Losses and write-offs (excludes cash shortages/thefts 
of money) (note 10 ‘Other expenses’)

 143,371  -   

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a)  210,308  570,789 
Current inventories  370,778  161,576 
Other current assets  776,429  (163,416)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables (a)  (831,067)  432,577 
Current provisions  (155,503)  725,560 
Other current liabilities  27,619  (546,760)
Non-current provisions  (458,237)  280,698 
Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)  (927,706)  (1,532,063)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)  836,472  1,482,535 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (79,450,365)  (89,447,610)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the 
receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in 
these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.
(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables
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32. Commitments $ $

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  739,283  783,406 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  973,867  911,450 
Later than 5 years  3,479,206  3,341,050 

 5,192,356  5,035,906 

The commitments below are inclusive of GST.

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts 
reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year  1,125,712  883,902 
 1,125,712  883,902 

The capital commitments include amounts for:
Buildings  1,125,712  883,902 

33. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

PWA has no contingent liabilities or contingent assets.

34. Events occurring after the reporting period

PWA has no material events occurring after the reporting period.
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35. Explanatory statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014 and between actual results for 
2013 and 2014 are shown below.
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10 % or $250,000. 

Significant variances between estimated and actual result for 2014
2014  

Estimate| 
$ 

2014  
Actual  

$ 

Variance  
 
$ 

Employee Benefits Expense  99,952,914  94,995,867  
(4,957,047)

Supplies and Services  25,507,300  22,130,346 (3,376,954)
Depreciation Expense  5,600,000  5,229,012  (370,988)
Grants and Subsidies  500,000  416,355  (83,645)
Cost of Sales  1,300,000  646,232  (653,768)
Gain/Loss on Disposal of Non-current Assets  100,000  80,156  (19,844)
Fee for Service  21,694,080  23,180,494  1,486,414 
Student Fees and Charges  18,810,391  17,586,748 (1,223,643)
Sale of Goods  1,600,000  870,620  (729,380)
Interest Revenue  400,000  955,818  555,818 
Other Revenue  2,759,609  2,265,017  (494,592)
Service Appropriation  90,054,073  89,494,057  (560,016)
Resources Received Free of Charge  1,600,000  2,127,380  527,380 

Employee Benefits Expense ($4,957,047)
The variance ($4.9M) against 2014 Estimates ($99.9M) is due to measures adopted in reviewing 
the Institute’s staffing establishment in response to lower demand patterns experienced in 2014.

Supplies and Services ($3,376,954)
The underspend ($3.4M) in supplies and services is in response to procurement efficiencies 
and savings targets, reinforcing stricter controls especially in the areas of general materials, 
consumables and minor equipment purchases.

Depreciation Expense ($370,988)
The variance against 2014 Estimates is due to the reduced expenditure on equipment and capital 
works 2013-2014, resulting in lower depreciation expense.

Grants and Subsidies ($83,645)
Expenditure on Apprentice Travel ($416K) was within the 2014 Estimates ($500K), giving rise to 
the variance ($84K).

Cost of Sales ($653,768)
Cost of sales from bookshops and other sales was under the 2014 Estimate due to the progressive 
closure of bookshops from second semester 2014.

Gain/Loss on Disposal of Non-current Assets ($19,844)
2014 disposal of assets was less than forecast.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014



80

Fee for Service ($1,486,414)
Fee for Service activity exceeded the lower 2014 forecast to be more in line with 2013 outcomes, 
resulting in a positive variance.
Student Fees and Charges ($1,223,643)
The variance against 2014 Estimates is due to lower demand patterns experienced in 2014, than 
forecast.

Sales of Goods ($729,380)
Revenue from bookshops and other sales was under the 2014 Estimate due to the progressive 
closure of bookshops from second semester 2014.

Interest Revenue $555,818
Higher carrying balances of cash in 2014 allowed for a focus on investment levels, providing higher 
interest revenues than were estimated.

Other Revenue ($494,592)
Other Revenue includes miscellaneous items, revenue received relating to prior years, insurance 
claims and adjustments.  Due to the difficulty in forecasting these items it usually results in a 
variance to estimates.

Service Appropriation ($560,016)
2014 State Funds were below 2014 Estimates due to the estimated 7,019,000 purchased Student 
Curriculum Hours being subsequently reduced to 6,960,000 in 2014 revisions.The actual student 
curriculum hours achieved in 2014 was 6,569,549.

Resources Received Free of Charge $527,380
Although the result closely reflected 2013 outcomes, some conservatism is adopted in forecasting 
this revenue item given this data being calculated and supplied by external agencies, making 
forecasts inherently uncertain.

Significant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2014

 2014  2013  Variance 
 $  $  $ 

Employee Benefits Expense  94,995,867  99,796,751 (4,800,884)
Supplies and Services  22,130,346  23,382,265 (1,251,919)
Cost of Sales  646,232  992,791  (346,559)
Other Expenses  9,112,927  8,588,715  524,212 
Fee for Service  23,180,494  23,597,838  (417,344)
Student Fees and Charges  17,586,748  11,699,366  5,887,382 
Sale of Goods  870,620  1,375,058  (504,438)
Interest Revenue  955,818  607,332  348,486 
Other Revenue  2,265,017  1,968,511  296,506 
Service Appropriation  89,494,057  97,421,269 (7,927,212)

Employee Benefits Expense ($4,800,884)

The reduction in 2014 employee expenses is due to the corrective expenditure measures taken in 
2014 that included a review of the approved structure.
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Supplies and Services ($1,251,919)
The decrease in 2014 expenditure is a result of procurement efficiencies resulting in a reduction of 
general consumable spending ($357K) minor equipment purchases ($247K), and a lower capital 
works spend ($353K).

Cost of Sales ($346,559)
2014 cost of sales from bookshops were less than 2013 due to the closure of bookshops in 2014.

Other Expenses $524,211 
Other expenses were higher in 2014 due to increases in repairs and maintenance buildings 
($375K), doubtful debts expense ($208K) and write offs and losses ($131K), off-set by a decrease 
in employee related taxes ($219K).

Fee for Service ($417,344)
In 2014 fee for service Commonwealth increased by $772K, however this was off-set by decreases 
in fee for service State Government $577K, fee for service General Courses $357K and fee for 
service ACE $168K.

Student Fees and Charges $5,887,382 
The variance in student fees and charges from 2013 is due to the introduction of Future Skills WA 
and higher student fee contributions in 2014, which is off-set in a comparable reduction in service 
appropriation.

Sales of Goods ($504,438)
2014 sales from bookshops were less than 2013 due to the closure of bookshops in 2014.

Interest Revenue $348,486 
Higher carrying balances of cash in 2014 allowed for a focus on investment levels, providing 
higher interest revenue than 2013.

Other Revenue $296,506 
Other Revenue includes miscellaneous items, revenue received relating to prior years, insurance 
claims and adjustments.  These items will fluctuate from year to year and will not follow a predictable 
pattern.

Service Appropriation ($7,927,212)
State Funds received through the Delivery and Performance Agreement decreased by $7,927,212 
due to the introduction of the Future skills WA reforms, see Student Fees and Charges above.
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36. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Approximately 66% of PWA's funding is under an agreement with the State Government for delivery 
of training with an additional 13% of other revenue from students associated with this delivery. PWA 
therefore has a high dependence on government for the continued delivery of training services. 
The level of service provided to Government is negotiated annually with modifications for growth 
or reduction to areas forming part of the overall strategic plan of PWA.

Financial instruments held by the institute are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and 
cash equivalents, receivables, payables and other liabilities. The Institute has limited exposure 
to financial risks. The Institute's overall risk management program focuses on managing  the risk 
identified below:

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Institute’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Institute.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance 
for impairment as shown in the table at note 36(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 22 
‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Institute’s financial assets is minimal because the Institute trades 
only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Institute has policies in place to ensure that 
sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Institute's exposure 
to bad debt is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there are no significant concentrations of 
credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Institute is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Institute is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.  

The Institute has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to 
meet its commitments.

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the Institute's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Institute does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks (for 
example, equity securities or commodity prices changes). 

Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 36(c), the Institute is not  
exposed to any further interest  rate risk. 
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(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities 
at the end of the reporting period are :

 2014  2013 
 $  $ 

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  24,640,106  8,399,908 
Restricted cash  and cash equivalents  1,491,467  4,610,572 
Receivables (a)  2,844,928  3,861,789 

Financial Liabilities
Payables  3,052,183  3,908,110 
Other Liabilities (b)  6,641,826  -   

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory 
receivable).
(b) Other Liabilities includes monies due to Department of Training and Workforce Development for 
under achievement of SCH delivery ($5.1M) and repayment of a co-contribution payment ($1.5M) 
originally provided for the construction of the new Plumbing Workshop at Balaga Campus.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk
The following table discloses the Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis 
of financial assets. The Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting 
period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of 
financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based 
on information provided to senior management of the Institute.

The Institute does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the 
financial assets it holds.
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Ageing analysis of financial assets

Carrying 
Amount

 Not 
past due 
and not 
impaired 

Past due but not impaired
Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

 3 
months 

to 1 
year 

1-5 
Years 

 More 
than 5 
years 

 Impaired 
Financial 
Assets 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial Assets
 2014 
Cash and cash equivalents  24,640  24,640  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Restricted cash  and cash 
equivalents

 1,491  1,491  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Receivables  (a)  2,845  2,006  518  305  16  -    -    995 
 28,976  28,137  518  305  16  -    -    995 

 2013 
Cash and cash equivalents  8,400  8,400  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Restricted cash  and cash 
equivalents

 4,611  4,611  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Receivables  (a)  3,862  2,993  625  182  62  -    -    1,112 
 16,873  16,004  625  182  62  -    -    1,112 

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Institute’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. 

The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section 
analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.
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Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate 
exposure

Maturity dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate

Carrying 
Amount

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

 Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

Nominal 
Amount 

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

 3-12 
months 

 More 
than 12 
months 

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
 2014 
Financial Assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents

2.96%  24,640  24,614  26  24,640  11,237  13,403  -    -   

Restricted 
cash and cash 
equivalents

2.96%  1,491  1,491  -    1,491  1,491  -    -    -   

Receivables  (a)  2,845  -    2,845  2,845  2,845  -    -    -   
 28,976  26,105  2,871  28,976  15,573  13,403  -    -   

Financial 
Liabilities
Payables  3,052  -    3,052  3,052  3,052  -    -    -   
Other Liabilities  6,642  6,642  6,642  1,500  5,142  -   

 9,694  -    9,694  9,694  3,052  1,500  5,142  -   

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate 
exposure

Maturity dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate

Carrying 
Amount

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

 Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

Nominal 
Amount 

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

 3-12 
months 

 More 
than 12 
months 

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
 2013 
Financial Assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents

3.24%  8,400  8,376  24  8,400  6,300  2,100  -    -   

Restricted 
cash and cash 
equivalents

3.24%  4,611  4,611  -    4,611  4,611  -    -    -   

Receivables  (a)  3,862  -    3,862  3,862  3,862  -    -    -   
 16,873  12,987  3,886  16,873  14,773  2,100  -    -   

Financial 
Liabilities
Payables  3,908  -    3,908  3,908  3,908  -    -    -   

 3,908  -    3,908  3,908  3,908  -    -    -   

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Institute's financial assets and 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest 
rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

- 100 Basis Points + 100 Basis Points
Carrying 
amount

Surplus Equity Surplus  Equity 

 2014 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 24,614,111 (246,141)  (246,141)  246,141  246,141 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

 1,491,467  (14,915)  (14,915)  14,915  14,915 

Total Increase/(Decrease) (261,056)  (261,056)  261,056  261,056 

- 100 Basis Points + 100 Basis Points
Carrying 
amount

Surplus Equity Surplus  Equity 

 2013 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  8,376,128  (83,761)  (83,761)  83,761  83,761 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

 4,610,572  (46,106)  (46,106)  46,106  46,106 

Total Increase/(Decrease) (129,867)  (129,867)  129,867  129,867 

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are 
carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation 
of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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37. Remuneration of members of the Institute and senior officers

Remuneration of members of the Institute

The number of members of the Institute whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$  2014  2013 
        $0 -  $10,000  12  9 
$10,001 - $20,000  1  -   
$40,001 - $50,000  -    1 

$200,001 - $210,000  -    1 
$230,001 - $240,000  1  -   

 $  $ 
Base remuneration and superannuation  266,253  288,629 
Annual leave and long service leave accruals  (12,165)  (23,803)
Other  benefits  8,298  -   
Total remuneration of the members of the Institute  262,386  264,826 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of 
members of the Institute.

Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Institute, whose 
total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial 
year, fall within the following bands are:

$  2014  2013 
        $0 -  $10,000  -    2 
$50,001 - $60,000  -    1 

$110,001  -$120,000  -    1 
$150,001 - $160,000  -    2 
$160,001 - $170,000  2  -   
$170,001 - $180,000  2  2 
$180,001 - $190,000  1  -   
$190,001 - $200,000  2  1 

 $  $ 
Base remuneration and superannuation  1,206,604  965,825 
Annual leave and long service leave accruals  37,426  28,296 
Other  benefits  27,276  33,833 
Total remuneration of senior officers  1,271,306  1,027,954 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of 
senior officers other han senior officers reported as members of the Institute.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 
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38. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial 
year is as follows:

 2014  2013 
 $  $ 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key 
performance indicators

 132,000  131,000 

39. Related bodies
The Institute has no related bodies.

40. Affiliated bodies
The Institute has no affiliated bodies.

41. Supplementary financial information
 2014  2013 

(a) Write-Offs  $  $ 
Public property written-off by the Executive Council    
during the financial year

 9,064  3,710 

Bad debts  302,784  398,374 
Inventory  1,309  813 
Other (a)  132,997  11 

 446,154  402,908 
(a) 2014 includes the write off of the Pinjarra Centre leasehold improvements due to lease being 
terminated in 2014.

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public money and public and other property through 
theft or default

 -    759 

 -    759 

42. Schedule of income and expenditure by service

The Institute provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer's Instruction 1101 (9) and that is 
Vocational Education and Training Delivery.
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ANNUAL ESTIMATES FOR 2015
 
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 953, the annual estimates for the 2015 year are hereby enclosed 
in the 2014 Annual Report.

These estimates do not form part of the 2014 financial statements and are not subject to audit.

S40 SUBMISSION 
Statement of Comprehensive Income

2015 Estimate 
$

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 95,699,394
Supplies and services 23,526,930
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5,430,995
Finance costs

Grants and subsidies 397,554
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 91,217
Cost of sales 263,000
Other expenses 8,002,788

Total Cost of Services 133,411,879
Income
Revenue
Fee for service 21,878,300
Student charges and fees 21,678,517

Ancillary trading 928,631
Sales 420,000
Commonwealth grants and contributions

Interest revenue 524,728
Other revenue 2,893,000

Total Revenue 48,323,176

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 0
Other gains 0

0
Total Gains 0
Total income other than income from State Government 48,323,176
NET COST OF SERVICES (85,088,702)

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

State funds 82,878,832
Assets assumed/(transferred) 0
Resources received free of charge 1,978,000
Royalties for regions 0
Total income from State Government 84,856,832
              SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (231,870)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation reserve 0
Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity 0

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (231,870)
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S40 SUBMISSION 
Statement of Financial Position

2015 Estimate 
$

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 17,821,796
Inventories 120,500
Receivables 3,016,409
Other current assets 1,114,384

Total Current Assets 22,073,089

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 187,242,398

Total Non-Current Assets 187,242,398
TOTAL ASSETS 209,315,487

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 3,254,966
Provisions 14,674,921
Other current liabilities 4,075,895

Total Current Liabilities 22,005,782

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 4,147,031

Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,147,031
TOTAL LIABILITIES 26,152,813

NET ASSETS 183,162,674

EQUITY
Contributed Equity 73,301,444
Reserves 117,789,773
Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) (7,928,543)

TOTAL EQUITY 183,162,674
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S40 SUBMISSION 2015 Estimate 
$Cash Flow Statement

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
State funds 82,878,833
Net cash provided by State Government 82,878,833
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (95,699,394)
Supplies and services (21,594,930)
Grants and subsidies (397,554)
Cost of goods sold (198,000)
Other payments (9,448,218)

Operating Receipts
Fee for service 22,298,481
Student fees and charges 21,623,517
Ancillary trading 928,631
Interest received 524,727
GST receipts on sales 840,000
GST receipts from taxation authority 1,190,000
Sales of Goods 420,000
Other receipts 1,223,455

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (78,289,285)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets (1,575,676)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (1,575,676)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held and cash equivalents 3,013,872
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 14,807,924

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 17,821,796


